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Profile

Fiberstars believes that fiber optic lighting is growing into a major segment of the $54 billion world lighting market. The company
continues to make technology advances that dramatically improve performance and pricing so that its lighting systems can more
effectively compete with down-lights, display case lighting, water lighting and neon and other lighted signs. Fiberstars is the #1 fiber
optic lighting company in the world by a margin of two-to-one in sales over its nearest competitor.

Fiber Opiic Lighting

* is aesthetically more pleasing light with color change and special effects options

* has the potential to materially reduce lighting-related energy consumption

* increases fire and electromagnetic safety by transporting light rather than electricity

* centralizes maintenance and cleaning, and reduces maintenance and labor costs

» climinates heat transfer and structural support hardware, simplifying light fixtures, installation, and architectural requirements
¢ reduces ambient cocling system requirements because of reduced heat from light

Financial Highlighiy

amaounts in thousands, except eanings per share data 2002 2001 2000

Operating Results

Net sales $ 30,960 $ 29.053 $ 36,921
Net income $ (3579 $ (2,128) $  (454)
Earnings per share $ (070 $ (045 $ 010
Weighted average shares outstanding 5,028 4,756 4,572

Financial Position

Working capital $ 7,417 $ 8,498 $ 10,602
Total assets $ 20,101 $ 21,434 $ 24,619
Total liabilities $ 5,861 $ 5003 $ 6,059
Shareholders’ equity $ 14,240 $ 16,431 $ 18,560

Note en forward-ltooking information

Except for the historical information contained herein, the matters set forth in this Annual Report, including statements as to future
operating resuits, mcluding probability and cost of goods savings, our ability to compete, our ability to increase market share and
penetrate new markets, and our expectations concerning future development, pedormance and benefits of our products, are for-
ward-looking statements within the meaning of the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
These forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially, including,
but not limited to, the impact of competitive products, technelogical advances, general economic conditions, and other risks
detailed from time to time in Fiberstars’ SEC reports, including those in the section entitled "Factors that May Affect Results” in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002. These forward-looking statements speak only as the date
hereof. Fiberstars disclaims any intention or abligation to update or revise any forward-fooking statements. Fiberstars, BritePak,
MaxCore, Fiberstars EFQ and Fiberstars Undergound llluminator are our registered trademarks. Other marks referenced herein are
the property of their respective owners. This annual report contains statistical data regarding the lighting industry that we obtained
from industry publications and the U.S. Dept. of Commerce. These industry publications generally indicate that they have obtained
their information from sources believed to be reliable, but do not guarantee the accuracy and completeness of their information,
Althcugh we believe that the gublications are reliable, we have not independently verified their data.

CGover

(left) The Ajanta Caves ceiling art is a national treasure in India. Fiberstars lighting was specified because t filters out IR and U.V. rays, whick would
be harmful to the ancient artwork. (right) Garrard Jewellers, London, beautifully displaying their jewelry with Fiberstars Lightly Expressed™ light bars.




To our shareholders

Expanding our Horizons

The Fiberstars EFO™ (Efficient
Fiber Optics) era is underway. This
breakthrough new fiber optic
lighting system — patented and
proprietary to Fiberstars-- consumes
up to 80% less energy than conven-
tional lighting. We believe its busi-
ness potential is to expand
Fiberstars horizons in the commer-
cial lighting market from small
specialty niches of mostly decora-
tive lighting to significant segments
of the estimated $50B worldwide
general lighting market.

Similarly, the successful introduc-
tion of Jazz Light™ in 2002 expands
the Company'’s business horizons in
the pool and spa market. Jazz is a
unique, patented non-fiber optic
pool light based on the high intensi-
ty discharge technology of
Fiberstars EFO which delivers the
light output equivalent of a 300
watt incandescent lamp from a 50
watt HID system. Important to cus-
tomers in this market, it offers the
same changing colors feature of
other Fiberstars products.
Fiberstars has about a 67% share of
the specialty fiber optic lighting
niche of the pool market. As with
EFO in Commercial Lighting, we
believe Jazz Light gives the
Compény the opportunity to obtain
a growing share of the much larger
general pool lighting market.

Fiberstars introduced EFO into

the commercial lighting market in

2002, and the response from cus-
tomers was very encouraging. This
was not reflected in our financial
results for the year, because the -
large national retail accounts which
are the primary target customers
for Fiberstars EFO are understand-
ably testing the system before com-
mitting to it. By year’s end, nine
accounts had already declared the
tests successful, 12 tests were
underway with some of the nation’s
largest accounts, and additional
tests were scheduled to begin in
2003.

Potential applications of
Fiberstars EFO which were tested in
2002 included lighting produce in
supermarkets, lighting deli and flo-
ral cases, lighting for a chain of cake
shops in Japan and a chain of
chocolate stores in the U.S., strip
lighting for the city of Ft.
Lauderdale’s showcase ocean wall,
water lighting in Sri Lanka, down-
lights for a major theater chain, dis-
play lighting for a major department
store chain, clean room lighting,
museum lighting in Europe, hallway
and conference room lighting for
offices, and many others.

DARPA, the Defense Advance
Research Project Agency (DoD),
reinforced our excitement about
Fiberstars’ new technology by
approving proposals Fiberstars sub-
mitted with three partner compa-
nies for the High Efficiency
Distributed Lighting (HEDLight)

project, designed to create a next

Garrard

Jewellers, like

many other jewelry
stores, has found
that Fiberstars
lighting enhances
the beauty of their
merchandise by
adding sparkle to
the jewelry.

This pool in
Santa Clarita,
California, by

Design Pools,
shows the beauty
of Fiberstars new

Jazz Light™.

[3] This deli case in
Shaw's supermar-
kets in New
England is lit with
a Fiberstars light
bar. N heat, no
U.V. Fiberstars is
ideal for food
highlighting.




generation lighting system for
ships and other military uses. The
approved project, announced in
early 2003, totals $6.8 million over
the next three years. The project
uses Fiberstars EFO as a base
system, and seeks to improve its
efficiency and other characteristics
to meet DARPA specifications.
The work emerging from these proj-
ects is expected to be applicable
to the Company’s commercial
markets as well.

In 2002, Fiberstars EFO was intro-
duced at trade shows in Beijing,
Tokyo, Sydney, Frankfurt, London
and San Francisco. John Davenport,
Fiberstars COO/CTO, made a pres-
entation on EFO at an energy con-
ference in the U.S. attendad by
DoE, DoD and DoC representatives.
The European Union invited
Fiberstars, at their expense, to a
conference on energy saving tech-
nologies of the future. Several major
lighting designers endorsed EFO,
and a major architectural firm has
expressed interest in partnering
with Fiberstars.

We established a new internal
national account sales team to
capitalize on Fiberstars EFO, using
an energy services approach. We
have arranged with an outside com-
pany to provide large customers
with turnkey installation for
Fiberstars EFO. A financial firm has

agreed to bid for financing EFO
jobs, the goal being to offer a
cash positive monthly payment

opportunity to customers.
Results

Fiberstars sales increased 7% in
2002 over 2001. Our sales in the
Pool & Spa market increased 25%,
largely because of the successful
introduction of our Jazz Light.
However, the Company’s commer-
cial lighting revenues fell 12%, suf-
fering from the soft economy, lower
capital spending by industry in the
U.S. and Europe, and a continuing
softness in the resort and casino
market sector.

In response to the commercial
market sales weakness, expenses
and overhead were reduced $2 mil-
lion from their levels in 2001, and
the operating loss decreased $1.9
million year to year. A $2.4 million
non-cash charge was taken in the
3rd quarter to increase the valuation
allowance against deferred tax
assets on the balance sheet. With
this non-recurring charge, the loss
for 2002 was $3.5 million ($0.70 per
share) compared to a loss of $2.1
million in 2001 ($0.45 per share).
The Company has the
opportunity to earn back these
assets in future periods.

On a pro forma basis (omitting

the non-cash charge) the net loss
would be $1.1 million or $0.22
per share.

The Company invested $1.6 mil-
lion in R&D and marketing on EFO
in 2002, and this was largely respon-
sible for the operating loss in the
year. Nevertheless, we expect the
future potential of the new energy
efficient lighting system will justify
the investment.

To further reduce costs, the
Company undertook a major
initiative to expand its manufactur-
ing and materials sourcing offshore.
At year end, Jazz Light was being
assembled offshore, and Lightly
Expressed light bars were sched-
uled to begin offshore production
in 2003. We expect that offshore
manufacturing of other Fiberstars’
high volume products will follow.

At year end, the balance sheet
consisted of $20.1 million in
assets and $5.9 million in liabilities.
Total shareholders’ equity was
$14.2 million.

Other highlights of 2002

John Davenport, Fiberstars Chief
Technology Officer who headed the
team which developed Fiberstars
EFO, was promoted to Chief
Operating Officer in 2002. John
spént 25 years with GE Lighting,
where he headed their R&D

The photo at left
and the backdrop
for the cover and

duced in early
2003. In customer
presentations, EFO
inside covers show has been shown to
Fiberstars EFO

installed above a

be more energy

efficient than incan-
ceiling. The new, descent, halogen,
low profile EFO

illuminator shown

ceramic metal
halide and even
was developed in compact fluores-

2002 and intro- cent lighting.
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Fiberstars lighting
is installed to illumi-
nate steps made
of glass and acrylic
plates from both
outside and within
the steps at the
State Central Bank
of Saarbruecken,
Germany.

In our largest
water lighting job
ever, Fiberstars lit
five indoor and two
outdoor pools at
the large Public
Health Resort Spa in
Schandau, Germany.

A 5000 year
old mummy, found

in a glacier with
his clothing and
eguipment intact,
is safely highlight-
ed by Fiberstars at
the South Tirolean
Archeology
Museum, Bolzano,
Italy. Special filters
assure that visitors
see the iceman in
the light of the
altitude in which
he lived.

department. He was President of
Unison Fiber Optics at the time
Fiberstars acquired Unison in 2000.
John has quickly established himself
at Fiberstars as a |eader of vision,
energy and intelligence, and | look
forward to his contributions in his
new senior management role.

David Traversi joined the board
of directors in 2002. David has both
general management and invest-
ment banking experience, and
brings a fresh perspective to our
company as we introduce our excit-
ing new technology.

" The Company formed a
Compliance Committee, in response
to the new corporate governance
regulations under Sarbanes Oxley.
Fiberstars has always operated
under a discipline of honesty, fair-
ness and ethical conduct, as well as
conservative, straightforward
accounting practices. These values
have now been codified in a more
formal way, consistent with the new
regulations.

The lighting installations we are
proud of in 2002 include the Ajanta
Caves in india, a National Heritage
site of ancient cave art lit with
Fiberstars light which has no
infrared or ultraviolet rays to harm
the priceless art. Similarly, in Europe
Fiberstars lights the oldest surviving
boat in the world, as well as the
ancient cave man remarkably dug
out from ice. Fiberstars lighting
sparkles in the new Shanghai
Tunnel. Fiberstars lit a University
Library in the UK and a beautiful

shopping mall in Germany. In the
U.S., Fiberstars continued to
expand its work with accounts such
as Tiffany’s, Gertrude Hawk
Chocolates, Sonic, Burdine’s,
Cheesecake Factory and Carnival

Cruise Lines.
Outlook

We believe our new technology
expands the future opportunities
for Fiberstars by creating broad
new markets for fiber optic lighting.
We are encouraged by market
reaction to date in both the com-
mercial lighting and swimming pool
markets. The DARPA awards pro-
vide an extraordinary endorsement
of Fiberstars EFO and the
Company's R&D talent. We believe
that development of next genera-
tion systems based on EFO for
military and other uses will enhance
our prospects for continued success
in the years to come.

As always, | thank you for your

continuing support of Fiberstars.

Sincerely,

@kzwg\

David N. Ruckert
President, C.F.O.
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When used in this Report, the words “expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “plans,” and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These are statements that relate to future
periods and include statements as to the Company’s future operating results, capital expenditures, product
development and enhancements, liquidity and strategy, our accounting policies, development and marketing
of new products, relationships with customers and distributors, relationships with suppliers and ability to
obtain components, as well as our remarks concerning our ability to compete in the fiber optic lighting
market, the evolution and future size of the fiber optic lighting market, seasonal fluctuations, our
expectations concerning the future performance of our acquired businesses, plans for and expected benefits
of outsourcing manufacturing, trends in the price and performance of fiber optic lighting products, the
benefits and performance of our lighting products, the adequacy of our current facilities, our strategy with
regard to protecting our proprietary technology, our ability to retain qualified employees, our relationship
with Advanced Lighting Technology, Inc. (“ADLT”) and future technologies expected to result from our
relationship with ADLT. Forward- looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those projected. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not
limited to, those risks discussed below, as well as our ability to retain and obtain customer and distributor
relationships, the cost of accessing or acquiring technologies or intellectual property, risks relating to
developing and marketing new products, manufacturing difficulties, possible delays in the release of
products, our ability to obtain components at reasonable prices, the impact of technological advances and
competitive products, our ability to attract and retain qualified employees; and the risks set forth below
under Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Factors That May Affect Results” and in the Company’s other periodic filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date hereof. The
Company expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to
any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in the Company’s expectations with
regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

Fiberstars®, BritePak®, MaxCore™, Lightly Expressed®, Jazz Light™, Fiberstars EFO™ and
Fiberstars Underground Illuminator™ are our registered trademarks. We also refer to trademarks of
other corporations and organizations in this document.

PART I
Item 1. Description of Business
Overview

Fiberstars, Inc. (“Fiberstars” or the “Company”), incorporated in California in 1985, develops and
markets fiber optic lighting systems which are used in a variety of commercial and residential
applications. The Company was one of the pioneers in the use of fiber optic technology in lighting. By
continuing to improve the price and performance of its products and by expanding its marketing
efforts, we believe Fiberstars has become the world’s leading supplier in this market.

The Company’s products often have advantages over conventional lighting in areas of efficiency,
safety, maintenance and beauty, and thus can be used in place of conventional lighting in a number of
applications. By delivering special lighting effects which conventional lighting often cannot match, fiber
optic lighting systems are especially attractive for a wide range of decorative applications such as the
lighting of swimming pools and spas, signage, “neon” type decoration, landscaping and other areas of
use within the commercial and residential markets. New technology developed by Fiberstars can be
used for commercial and industrial downlights and can save up to 80% of the energy consumed by
conventional electric lighting. New technology is also used in a new, non-fiber optic Fiberstars electric
light for swimming pools which offers many benefits compared to other electric pool lights.




The Company designs, develops and manufactures its lighting systems and markets and distributes

its products worldwide, primarily through independent sales representatives, distributors and swimming
pool builders.

Products

Fiberstars’ fiber optic lighting systems combine three types of products—illuminators, fiber, and
fixtures—in configurations designed to meet the needs of specific markets. The electrically powered
illuminators generate and focus light into the ends of optical fiber. Fiber tubing products connect to the
illuminators and are designed to emit light either at the end of the fiber optics as a spot source of
light, or along the length of the fiber optics, similar in effect to neon lighting. The systems can also
include fixtures and other accessories designed for specific applications.

Hluminators

The Company manufactures a number of different illuminators for use in different applications.
Most commercial illuminators utilize metal halide high intensity discharge (H.I.D.) lamps to provide
long life and maximum brightness. Some include patented optical systems which have been designed by
Fiberstars to enhance performance. Our lower cost illuminators use quartz halogen lamps, some of
which are custom manufactured to Fiberstars’ specifications.

New products introduced in 2002 include the Fiberstars Jazz Light™ for the swimming pool market
and Fiberstars EFO™ for commercial lighting markets. The EFO™ system is based on Fiberstars’
patented new CPC™ non-imaging optical system for efficiency in fiber optic light delivery. The Jazz
Light™ product is Fiberstars first entry into the market for in-pool electric lighting systems.

Fiber Tubing

Fiberstars EFO™ also takes advantage of a patented, proprietary new large core fiber optic
product called MaxCore™, which has outstanding clarity with low attenuation for fiber optic lighting
applications. The combination of CPC optics and MaxCore fibers yields system light output efficiency
ranging from 30 to 60 lumens-per-watt (depending on the configuration of the system), compared to

approximately 12-15 lumens-per-watt for systems using traditional incandescent and halogen lamps.
Maxcore is manufactured by Fiberstars in its Solon, Chio facility.

Fiberstars also markets small diameter stranded fiber products, such as its patented BritePak® fiber
tubing which can maintain reasonably consistent brightness for side-lit fiber runs up to 100 feet in
length. For end-lit applications, a wide variety of fiber sizes are available to enable one illuminator to
illuminate several spotlights which are typically placed within twenty feet of the illuminator. Stranded
fiber is purchased from Mitsubishi and cabled and/or encased in a PVC tube by Fiberstars at its
Fremont, California facility.

All of Fiberstars’ fiber tubing products are manufactured in various lengths and diameters to meet
the requirements of each particular market and application. The Company carries small amounts of
finished goods inventory except during certain times of the year prior to heavy seasonal sales.

Fixtures and Accessories

Fiberstars designs and manufactures certain fixtures and accessories within product lines. Other
fixtures and accessories are supplied by third parties. The Company’s Commercial Lighting Division

produces a broad assortment of ceiling and landscape fixtures from which lighting designers may
choose.

As part of its acquisition of Lightly Expressed, Ltd. (“Lightly Expressed”) in May 2000, Fiberstars
acquired a line of high-end display case fixtures and a process for the manufacture of lightbars. The




Company manufactures additional lightbar designs and purchases others under OEM contracts from a
manufacturer in Canada to offer a complete product line to customers. Fiberstars believes that fiber
optics is ideal for case lighting because all of the light is directed within a 60 degree angle which
highlights merchandise well and does not generate heat like traditional (incandescent) lighting.

Applications and End-Users

The Company’s fiber optic lighting products are manufactured to the specifications of architects,
professional lighting designers, swimming pool builders or end-users. Our products have been installed
for commercial lighting applications in fast food restaurants such as Burger King and McDonald’s;
retail stores such as Footlocker, Starbucks, Albertson’s, Giant Food and Toys R Us; hotels such as the
MGM Grand, Caesar’s Palace, the Venetian and the Stratosphere Tower in Las Vegas; and
entertainment facilities such as theme parks operated by the Walt Disney Company and Universal
Studios. Fiberstars commercial lighting systems also have been used in a number of specialty
applications, including theatrical productions, bridges, theater aisles and ceilings, and have been used by
the Monterey Bay Aquarium, HBO Studios, AMC theaters, Chevron, New York’s Trump Tower and
New York Life. Examples of such installations made in 2002 included Tiffany, Nordstrom’s, Gertrude
Hawk Chocolates, Marathon Coach, Sonic, Macy’s, JR Dunn Jewelers, Burdene’s, Chuck E. Cheese,
Hobb’s Fountains, Wings, Cheescake Factory and Carnival Cruise Lines.

The Company’s primary products for pool and spa lighting are designed to provide underwater
lighting for newly constructed pools. In addition, Fiberstars markets products for spa lighting, pool
perimeter lighting, patios, decks and landscape lighting. The Company’s underwater lighting systems are
installed in pools and spas built by major national pool builders and builder groups, as well as
numerous regional and local pool builders throughout the United States and Canada.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution
Commercial Lighting Products

In the commercial lighting market, the Company’s marketing efforts are directed at creating
specifications for Fiberstars’ systems in plans developed by architects, professional lighting designers
and building owners. The Company reaches these professionals through its own national account sales
personnel as well as approximately 60 independent lighting representative organizations throughout the
United States, approximately 20 of which account for a substantial majority of the Company’s
commercial lighting product sales. The independent lighting representatives assist in the specification
process, directing orders to electrical equipment distributors, who, in turn, purchase products from
Fiberstars. Domestic distributors of commercial lighting products typically do not engage in marketing
efforts or stock any inventory of the Company’s products. The Company’s arrangements with its
independent representatives do not prohibit the handling of conventional lighting products, including
products that may be competitive with those of the Company, although such representatives typically do
not handle competing fiber optic lighting products.

The Company’s products are sold in Europe through two subsidiaries, Crescent Lighting Ltd. in
the UK and Lichtberatung Mann (LBM) in Germany. Together, these two companies oversee the sales
operations in Europe, Russia and the Middle East which, as in the U.S., include sales through
sub-distributors and sales representatives.

QOutside of Europe, Russia and the Middle East, Fiberstars’ commercial lighting products are sold
internationally in more than 29 countries by approximately 23 distributors, including Mitsubishi, ADLT
Australia and Venture Lighting Japan.




Swimming Pool and Spa Products

The Company’s underwater lighting products are sold primarily for installation in new swimming
pools and spas. Accordingly, our marketing efforts for swimming pool and spa products depend on
swimming pool builders to recommend our products to their customers and to adapt their swimming
pool designs to include Fiberstars lighting systems. The Company utilizes its own national and regional
sales managers. In September 2002, the Company discontinued its agreement to sell through the
organization of the Laars/Jandy Division of Waterpik Technologies Inc. (“Waterpik”). Prior to the
cessation of this relationship, Waterpik received a commission on sales in its territory.

Regional and national distributors in the swimming pool market stock the Company’s products to
fill orders received from swimming pool builders. Some of these distributors engage in limited
marketing activities for the Company’s products.

The Company enters into incentive arrangements to encourage pool builders to purchase the
Company’s products. The Company has entered into agreements with certain large national pool
builders, under which the builders may purchase Fiberstars systems directly from the Company and
offer the Company’s products with their swimming pools. The Company provides pool builders and
independent sales representatives with marketing tools, including promotional videos, showroom
displays and demonstration systems. The Company also uses trade advertising and direct mail in
addition to an ongoing program of sales presentations to pool builders and distributors.

South Central Pools (“SCP”), the largest pool distributor in the U.S. and the Company’s largest
pool customer, accounted for approximately 9% of the Company’s net sales in 2002, 8% in 2001 and
9% in 2000. The Company expects to maintain its business relationship with SCP; however, a cessation
or substantial decrease in the volume of purchases by this customer could reduce availability of the
Company’s products to end users and could, in turn, have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
net sales and results of operations. At December 31, 2002, SCP accounted for 13% of accounts
receivable and at December 31, 2001, they accounted for 10% of accounts receivable.

The Company sells its spa products directly to spa manufacturers on an OEM basis throughout the
US and Canada, and through distributors in other locations.

Sales of the Company’s pool and spa products follow a seasonal pattern which typically results in
higher sales in the second and fourth quarters as pool distributors stock shelves for the spring and
summer seasons. The first quarter pool sales tend to be the lowest of any quarter for the year. In
conformity with industry practice, extended terms are given to distributors for shipments in the fourth
quarter of the year whereby they receive products in November and December for which they pay in
equal installments from March through June of the following year.

The majority of sales of the Company’s swimming pool lighting systems to date have been made in
the U.S., Canada and Australia. However, the Company also sells through several distribution
agreements in Europe. Pool lighting sales in Europe were not material in 2002, 2001 or 2000.

Geographic Areas and Product Lines

The Company sells its products worldwide and has two product lines: Pool and Spa Lighting and
Commercial Lighting. Information on the geographic split of revenues and revenues by product line
may be found in Note 13 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Backlog

The Company normally ships standard products within a few days after receipt of an order and
custom products within 30 to 60 days of order receipt. Generally, there is not a significant backlog of
orders, except at year end. The Company’s backlog at the end of 2002 was $859,000 compared to



$2,182,000 at the end of 2001. A total of $1,188,000 of the 2001 backlog was for the pipeline of the
Jazz Light™ product in anticipation of its initial shipments in the first quarter of 2002. All of this Jazz
2001 backlog was shipped in either the first or second fiscal quarter of 2002. The Company does not
consider backlog to be an indicator of future performance.

Competition

The Company’s products compete with a wide variety of lighting products, including conventional
electric lighting in various forms, LED’s and decorative neon lighting. The Company also experiences
competition from other companies offering products containing fiber optic technology. Principal
competitive factors include price, performance (including brightness, reliability and other factors),
aesthetic appeal (including light color), market presence, installation, power consumption and
maintenance requirements.

The Company believes that its products compete favorably against conventional lighting in such
areas as aesthetic appeal, ease of installation, maintenance and power consumption. The unique
characteristics of fiber optic lighting (such as no heat or electricity at the light fixture, ability to change
colors and remote lamp replacement) enable our products to be used in some situations where
conventional lighting is not practical. However, the initial purchase price of the Company’s products is
typically higher than conventional lighting, and the Company’s products tend to be less bright than
conventional alternatives. These deficiencies are being addressed in whole or in part by Fiberstars’ new
CPC technology products including EFO™. In the case of neon lighting, certain popular neon colors,
such as bright red, cannot be achieved as effectively with the Company’s products.

Fiberstars is engaged in ongoing efforts to develop and improve its products, adapt its products for
new applications and design and engineer new products. The Company expects that its ability to
compete effectively with conventional lighting technologies, other fiber optic lighting products and new
lighting technologies that may be introduced will depend substantially upon achieving greater light
output and reducing the cost of the Company’s systems. In January 2003 the Company introduced a
new, lower-priced illuminator based on its patented CPC optical technology. This technology improves
performance by more efficiently capturing available lamp light from highly efficient metal halide lamps.
This product is an outgrowth of advanced technology acquired as part of the Company’s acquisition of
Unison (see “Research and Product Development” in this section).

Providers of conventional lighting systems include large lamp manufacturers and lighting fixture
companies which have substantially greater resources than the Company. These conventional lighting
companies may introduce new and improved products that may reduce or eliminate some of the
competitive advantages of the Company’s products. In commercial lighting, the Company also competes
primarily with local and regional neon lighting manufacturers and craftspeople who, in many cases, are
better established in their local markets than the Company.

Direct competition from other fiber optic lighting products and pool lighting products has
continued. Competitive products are offered in the pool market by Pentair, Inc.’s American Products
Division, a major manufacturer of pool equipment and supplies, as well as Super Vision International.
In commercial lighting, fiber optic lighting products are offered by an increasing number of smaller
companies, some of which compete aggressively on price. Some of these competitors offer products
with performance characteristics similar to those of the Company’s products. Certain large companies
in the conventional lighting industry are manufacturing fiber optic lighting systems that compete with
the Company’s products. Schott, a German glass fiber company, has formed an entity to enter the U.S.
market. Many companies compete with the Company in Asia, including Mitsubishi, Bridgestone and
Toray. Mitsubishi sells Fiberstars’ BritePak fiber tubing in Japan.

The Company cannot predict the impact of competition on its business. The Company believes
that an increase in the rate of market expansion may be accompanied by an increase in competition.




Increased competition could result in price reductions, reduced profit margins and loss of market share,
which would adversely affect the Company’s operating results. There can be no assurance that the
Company will be able to continue to compete successfully against current and future competitors.

Assembly, Testing and Quality Assurance

The Company’s illuminator manufacturing consists primarily of final assembly, testing and quality
control. The Company uses independent contractors to manufacture some components and
sub-assemblies and has worked with a number of its vendors to design custom components to meet
Fiberstars® specific needs. Inventories of domestically produced component parts are managed on a
just-in-time basis when practicable. The Company’s quality assurance program provides for testing of all
sub-assemblies at key stages in the assembly process as well as testing of finished products.

In 2002 the Company continued a program to manufacture more of its products in off-shore
locations, mainly Taiwan. The Company plans to begin the manufacturing of products with a company
in India in 2003. As this process continues it is expected that more high volume products will be
sourced off-shore where labor and component cost savings may be achieved. The Company intends to
increase its sourcing of off-shore components where there are cost advantages to doing so.

Under a supply agreement which was renewed in January 2001, Mitsubishi is the sole supplier of
the Company’s small diameter stranded fiber, which is the Company’s largest selling fiber product.
Since the Unison acquisition, Fiberstars has been manufacturing large core fiber. The Company expects
to maintain its relationship with Mitsubishi. Mitsubishi owns approximately 2.6% of the Company’s
outstanding common stock and distributes certain Fiberstars’ products in Japan. The Company also
relies on sole source suppliers for certain lamps, reflectors, remote control devices and power supplies.
Although the Company cannot predict the effect that the loss of one or more of such suppliers would
have on the Company, such loss could result in delays in the shipment of products and additional
expenses associated with redesigning products and could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s operating results.

Research and Product Development

The Company believes that growth in fiber optic lighting will be driven by improvements in
technology to provide increased light output at lower costs. Accordingly, the Company is committing
much of its research and development resources to those challenges. New optical technology developed
by Fiberstars following the Unison acquisition has resulted in new illuminator products for both the
swimming pool and the commercial lighting division. These new technology products are believed to be
state-of-the-art in fiber optic lighting. In 2002, the Company completed the redesign of its high-end
commercial illuminator, improving brightness. The improved version of this product shipped for the
first time in January 2003. Despite its ongoing development efforts, there can be no assurance that the
Company will be able to achieve future improvements in brightness and cost, or that competitors will
not develop lighting technologies that are brighter, less expensive or otherwise superior to those of the
Company.

On February 1, 2000, the Company completed an agreement to acquire selected assets and all of
the technology of Unison, the fiber optic lighting joint venture between ADLT and Rohm & Haas
Company. As part of the agreement, the Company acquired key personnel, technologies and other
assets. The Company believes that the acquisition has provided and may yet continue to provide the
following benefits:

1. The Company received contributions from Unison personnel to its long range plans. For example,
John Davenport, former manager of research and development at GE Lighting, has become the
Company’s Chief Operating Officer and Chief Technology Officer.




2. The Company believes that the technology acquired has the potential to deliver the light output of
certain electric lamps at competitive pricing to specifier-grade lighting fixtures, which has been a
major goal of the Company. Additionally, the Company acquired 12 patents and a number of
patents-pending, including technology in lamps, optics and fiber. Research and development based
on the acquired technology has resulted in a number of patent applications and patents being
issued in addition to those acquired in the transaction.

3. In connection with the acquisition, the Company entered into an ongoing technology exchange and
supply agreement with ADLT covering lamps, power supplies, optical coatings and fixtures for fiber
optic lighting applications.

4, The agreement provided the Company with $2,000,000 in research and development funds, paid
over five quarters, against milestones for the completion of development work on large core plastic
optical fiber as well as new technology lamp/optics projects. In exchange, the Company is required
to pay royalties on the sales of products these technologies produce at a rate of 3% for five years,
2% for the next two years and 1% for the next three years, after which the Company assumes
exclusive royalty-free rights. The Company began paying royalties in 2001.

5. The acquisition also included certain tangible assets valued, in the aggregate, at $625,000, including
large core fiber manufacturing and fiber making equipment and certain other research and
development equipment.

The Company’s goal, with the acquired technology from ADLT, was to improve the price/performance
of fiber optic lighting systems to compete more directly with conventional lighting across a much
broader spectrum of the general lighting market.

In 2000 the Company received a federal grant from the National Institute of Standards and
Technology (“NIST”) for up to $2,000,000 in funding over three years for research and development of
solid core fiber for lighting purposes. This contract provided the Company with $520,000 in funding for
the eleven-month period ended September 2001 and $914,000 for the one-year period ending
September 2002 and the Company has received approval to spend an additional $566,000 for the
one-year period ending September 2003.

The Company augments its internal research and development efforts by involving certain of its
component suppliers, independent consultants and other third parties in the process of seeking
improvements in the Company’s products and technology. The Company depends substantially on these
parties to undertake research and development efforts necessary to achieve improvements that would
not otherwise be possible given the multiple and diverse technologies that must be integrated in the
Company’s products and the Company’s limited engineering, personnel and financial resources. These
third parties have no material contractual commitments to participate in these efforts, and there can be
no assurance that they will continue to do so.

Intellectual Property

The Company believes that the success of its business depends primarily on its technical
innovations, marketing abilities and responsiveness to customer requirements, rather than on patents,
trade secrets, trademarks, copyrights and other intellectual property rights. Nevertheless, the Company
has a policy of seeking to protect its intellectual property through patents, license agreements,
trademark registrations, confidential disclosure agreements and trade secrets. As of December 31, 2002,
the Company’s intellectual property portfolio consisted of 33 issued U.S. patents, various pending U.S.
patent applications and various pending Patent Cooperation Treaty, or PCT, patent applications filed
with the World Intellectual Property Organization and which serve as the basis of national patent filings
in countries of interest. The Company’s issued patents expire at various times between August 2008 and
October 2022. Generally, the term of patent protection is 20 years from the earliest effective filing date




of the patent application. There can be no assurance, however, that the Company’s issued patents are
valid or that any patents applied for will be issued. There can be no assurance that the Company’s
competitors or customers will not copy aspects of the Company’s fiber optic lighting systems or obtain
information that the Company regards as proprietary. There also can be no assurance that others will
not independently develop products similar to those sold by the Company. The laws of some foreign
countries in which the Company sells or may sell its products do not protect the Company’s proprietary
rights in its products to the same extent as do the laws of the United States.

The Company is aware that a large number of patents and pending patent applications exist in the
field of fiber optic technology. The Company also is aware that certain of its competitors hold and have
applied for patents related to fiber optic lighting. Although, to date, the Company has not been
involved in litigation challenging its intellectual property rights, the Company has in the past received
communications from third parties asserting rights in its patents or that the Company’s technology
infringes intellectual property held by such third parties. Based on information currently available to
the Company, it does not believe that any such claims involving the Company’s technology or patents
are meritorious. However, the Company may be required to engage in litigation to protect its patent
rights or to defend against the claims of others. There can be no assurance that third parties will not
assert claims that the Company’s products infringe third party patents or other intellectual property
rights or that, in case of a dispute, licenses to such technology will be available, if at all, on reasonable
terms. In addition, the Company may need to take legal action to enforce its intellectual property rights
in the future. In the event of litigation to determine the validity of any third-party claims or claims by
the Company against third-parties, such litigation, whether or not determined in favor of the Company,
could result in significant expense to the Company and divert the efforts of the Company’s technical
and management personnel from productive tasks. Also, in the event of an adverse ruling in such
litigation, the Company might be required to expend significant resources to develop non-infringing
technology or to obtain licenses to the infringing technology, which licenses may not be available on
acceptable terms. In the event of a successful claim against the Company and the Company’s failure to
develop or license a substitute technology, the Company’s operating results could be adversely affected.

Employees

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had 143 full time employees, of whom 46 were involved in
sales, marketing and customer service, 19 in research and product development, 58 in assembly and
quality assurance, and 20 in finance and administration. From time to time the Company also employs
part- time personnel in various capacities, primarily assembly and clerical support. The Company has
never experienced a work stoppage, no employees are subject to any collective bargaining agreement,
and the Company considers its employee relations to be good.

The Company believes that its future success will depend to a large extent on the continued
contributions of certain employees, many of whom would be difficult to replace, and on its ability to
attract and retain qualified technical, sales, marketing and management personnel, for whom
competition is intense. The loss of or failure to attract and retain any such persons could delay product
development cycles, disrupt the Company’s operations or otherwise harm the Company’s business or
results of operations.

Item 2. Description of Property

The Company’s principal executive offices and manufacturing and assembly facilities are located in
a 60,000 square foot facility in Fremont, California, under a lease agreement expiring in 2006. The
Company has other local offices under lease in the United States in Seattle, Washington and in Europe
in the United Kingdom in Thatcham. It also owns a local office in Berching, Germany. The Company
believes that its current facilities are adequate to support its current and anticipated near-term



operations and that it can obtain additional space it may need in the future at commercially reasonable
terms.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the quarter ended
December 31, 2002.
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PART 1

Item 5. Market for Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

The Company’s Common Stock trades on the Nasdaq National Market tier of the Nasdaq Stock
Market*™ under the symbol “FBST”. The following table sets forth the high and low sale prices for the
Company’s Common Stock, as reported on the Nasdaq National Market for the periods indicated.
These reported prices reflect interdealer prices without adjustments for retail markups, markdowns or

commissions.

High  Low
First quarter 2000 . .. ... .. e $8.69 $4.69
Second quarter 2001 . ... ... e e 500 375
Third quarter 2001 .. . .. ... 475 331
Fourth quarter 2001 . . . ... ... e 404 295
First quarter 2002 . .. ... . e 3.65 285
Second quarter 2002 . . ... L e e 500 3.26
Third quarter 2002 . . ... . 443 243
Fourth quarter 2002. . . . . . .. ... 469 251

There were approximately 225 holders of record of the Company’s Common Stock as of March 25,

2003, and the Company estimates that at that date there were approximately 800 additional beneficial
OWNErs.

The Company has not declared or paid any cash dividends and does not anticipate paying cash
dividends in the foreseeable future.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the Company’s equity compensation
plans as of December 31, 2002:

Number of securities

Number of securities remaining available for
to be issued upon Weighted-average future issuance under
exercise of exercise price of equity compensation plans
outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))
Plan category (a) (b) (©)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders ... .............. 1,432,000 $4.57 301,000(1)
Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders . . ............. — — —
Total. ........ . 1,432,000 $4.57 301,000(2)

(1) Includes the number of shares reserved for issuance under the Company’s 1994 Employee Stock
Option Plan and under the 1994 Directors’ Stock Option Plan.

(2) Includes 25,000 shares available for sale pursuant to the Company’s 1994 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan. Shares of common stock will be purchased at a price equal to 85% of the fair
market value per share of common stock on either the first day preceding the offering period or

the last date of the offering period, whichever is less.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The Selected Operations and Balance Sheet Data set forth below have been derived from the
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company, which have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants. It should be read in conjunction with the
information appearing under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” included in Item 7 of this report and the Consolidated Financial
Statements and related notes found in Item 14 of this report.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 2601 2600 1999 1998
OPERATING SUMMARY
Netsales ....... ..., $30,960  $29,053  $36,921  $33,311  $22,682
Gross profit . ............. . ... .. ... 11,474 11,447 15,019 14,333 8,546
As apercentof netsales ............. 37.1% 39.4% 40.7% 43.0% 37.7%
Research and development expenses. ... ... 2,290 2,764 1,673 1,484 1,283
As apercentof netsales ............. 7.4% 9.5% 4.5% 4.5% 57%
Sales and marketing expenses ........... 7,907 8,371 9,038 8,044 5,381
As apercentof netsales ............. 25.5% 28.8% 24.5% 24.2% 23.7%
General and administrative expenses ... ... 2,709 3,627 4,023 2,558 1,675
As apercentof netsales ............. 8.8% 12.5% 10.9% 7.7% 7.4%
Write-off in-process technology acquired. . . . — — 938 . — —
As a percent of netsales ............. —% —% 25% —% —%
Income (loss) before tax . .............. (1,441) (3,381) (711) 2,255 1,231
As apercentofnetsales ............. 4N% (11.6)% (1.9% 6.8% 5.4%
Netincome (Ioss) . .......... ... ... ... (3,519) (2,128) (454) 1,413 762
As apercentof netsales ............. (11.4)% (7.3)% 12)% 4.2% 3.4%
Net income (loss) per share
Basic....... ... $ (0.70) § (045 §$ (0.10) $ 035 $ 021
Diluted ... ... ... o $ (0.70) §$ (045) $ (0.10) S 035 § 021
Shares used in per share calculation:
Basic....... .. ... 5,028 4,756 4,572 3,986 3,623
Diluted .. ....... ... .. ... 5,028 4,756 4,572 4,080 3,695
FINANCIAL POSITION SUMMARY
Total assets . .. ...coviii $20,101  $21,434  $24,619  $20,392  $18,924
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term
INVESTMENTS . . ... oot ns 231 584 1,230 1,904 1,290
Working capital . . . ... ... ... ... ... 7,417 8,498 10,602 8,948 7,423
Short-term borrowings . . .. ............. 593 101 8 8 107
Long-term borrowings . . ............... 449 419 482 626 667
Shareholders’ equity . ................. 14,240 16,431 18,560 14,668 13,354
Common shares outstanding . ........... 4,671 4,328 4,288 4,004 3,983

In accordance with SFAS 142 the Company ceased amortizing goodwill as of December 31, 2001.
Refer to Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

12




Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of
operations should be read in conjunction with “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” and the
Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes included elsewhere in this Report.

When used in this discussion, the words “expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” and similar expressions
are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements, which include statements as to the
Company’s future operating results, net sales growth, gross profit margin improvement, sources of revenues,
expected expenses and capital expenditure levels, expected realization of the value of deferred tax assets,
expected cash flows, the adequacy of capital resources, growth in operations, our expectations concerning
future performance of our acquired businesses, future growth in fiber optic lighting, our accounting policies,
the effect of recent accounting pronouncements, plans for and expected benefits of outsourcing
manufacturing,our future products and expected shipment dates, seasonal fluctuations, our future products
and expected shipment dates, are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those projected. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those risks
discussed below, as well as our ability to retain and obtain customer and distributor relationships, our ability
to maintain relationships with strategic partners and ADLT, our ability to manage expenses and inventory
levels, our ability to reduce manufacturing overhead and general and administrative expenses as a percentage
of sales, our ability to collect on doubtful accounts receivable, our ability to increase cash balances in future
quarters, the cost of accessing or acquiring technologies or intellectual property, the cost of enforcing or
defending intellectual property, risks relating to developing and marketing new products, the ability of our
lighting products to meet customer expectations, manufacturing difficulties, possible delays in the release of
products, risks associated with the evolution and growth of the fiber optic lighting market, trends in price
performance and adoption rates of fiber optic lighting products in Europe and the United States, our
dependence on a limited number of suppliers for components and distributors for sales, our ability to obtain
high-quality components at reasonable prices, the impact of limited energy resources on our manufacturing
operations and business, the impact of technological advances and competitive products, and seasonal and
other fluctuations in the construction industry; and the matters discussed in “Factors That May Affect
Results.” These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date hereof. The Company expressly
disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking
statements contained herein to reflect any change in the Company’s expectations with regard thereto or any
change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

Resuits of Operations
Net Sales

Net sales increased 7% to $30,960,000 in 2002 as compared to 2001. The increase was a resuit of
an increase in the sales of pool products of 25% or $3,631,000 offset by a decline in sales of
commercial lighting products of 12% or $1,724,000. The rise in pool lighting sales was largely due to
increases from sales of the new Jazz, in-ground pool lighting product and spa products of $3,966,000
partially offset by a decline in other products of $305,000. The decrease in commercial lighting sales
was due to a decline in U.S. domestic lighting sales of 24% or $1,801,000 partially offset by an increase
in international sales of $175,000. Of the decrease in U.S. domestic lighting sales, $1,227,000 of the
decline was due to a drop in resort and casino business, largely as an after effect of the September 11,
2001 tragedy. The Company expects net sales to be relatively flat for all of 2003, with a decline in first
quarter revenues as compared to the first quarter of 2002.

Net sales decreased 21% to $29,053,000 in 2001 as compared to 2000. The decrease was a result of
a decline in the sales of pool products of 25% or $4,693,000 along with a decline in sales of commercial
lighting products of 9% or $1,476,000. The decline in pool lighting sales was largely due to lower sales
of in-ground pool lighting products as a result of a decrease generally in the pool industry in the U.S,,
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together with increased competition. The decrease in commercial lighting sales was due to a decline in
international sales of 13% or $1,078,000 as a result of fewer large projects in Germany and the Far
East in 2001, combined with a decrease of 6% or $480,000 in sales in U.S. commercial lighting
accounts, with a majority of the decrease occurring in themed entertainment lighting in the second half
of 2001, also particularly after the September 11 tragedy.

International sales accounted for approximately 26% of net sales in 2002 as compared to 27% of
net sales in 2001 and 28% in 2000. The relative decrease in international sales from 2001 to 2002 was
due to slower growth in European sales than in the rest of the business. The relative decrease in
international sales from 2000 to 2001 was a result of the larger decline in international pool lighting
sales.

Gross Profit

Gross profit of $11,474,000 in 2002 remained essentially flat with gross profit of $11,447,000
achieved in 2001. However, gross profit margin decreased to 37.0% in 2002 compared to 39.4% in 2001
primarily due to higher freight in and freight out costs in 2002, up $632,000 or 2%, along with lower
than normal gross margins on the new Jazz product, down $425,000 or 1.4%, partially offset by higher
International margins, up 1%. The Company has taken measures intended to improve margins in future
periods by redesigning products for cost reductions and by moving some high-volume products to
offshore manufacturing where labor and component cost savings may be achieved. The Company
expects gross profit to improve slightly in 2003.

Gross profit decreased to $11,447,000 in 2001, a 24% decrease as compared to 2000. The pool
lighting gross profit margin was 35.4% in fiscal 2001, a decrease of 5.1% as compared to 2000. The
decrease was due to increased competition in spa lighting sales which caused margins to decrease of
2%, along with higher fixed costs as a percentage of sales as a result of the decline in overall pool
lighting sales of 3%. Commercial lighting gross profit margins improved to 43.4% in fiscal 2001, an
increase of 2.8% in 2001 as compared to 2000. The increase was due primarily to higher margins in the
German operations in Europe of 2%.

Operating Expenses

Research and development expenses were $2,290,000 in 2002, a 17% decrease from research and
development expenses in 2001 of $2,764,000. The decrease was largely due to the increase in expense
credits in 2002 of $331,000 as compared to 2001 from a National Institute of Science and Technology
(“NIST”) award. Total NIST payments of $874,000 were credited against research and development
expenses in 2002. The additional decrease in research and development expense in 2002 came as a
result of lower personnel and project costs. Research and development expenses were 7.4% of sales in
2002 compared to 9.5% of sales in 2001. Research and development expenses were $2,764,000 in 2001,
a 65% increase over $1,673,000 in research and development expenses in 2000. The increase was largely
due to the inclusion in 2001 of development costs that were included in cost of sales in 2000 as
production costs incurred as part of the ADLT development agreement of $976,000. These production
costs, which were assigned to a development agreement with ADLT in 2000, were categorized as a
research and development expense in 2001 and thereafter as a result of the development contract
having been completed in 2000. Additional increases in research and development expenses in 2001
were largely a result of staffing up for the NIST project and increases in other project costs of $658,000
partially offset by a credit to research and development expense associated with NIST award funding of
$543,000. Research and development expenses were 9.5% of sales in 2001 compared to 4.5% of sales in
2000. The Company expects research and development expenses to decrease in 2003.

Sales and marketing expenses were $7,907,000 in 2002, a 5% decrease as compared to the
$8,371,000 in sales and marketing expenses for 2001. The decrease in sales and marketing expenses was
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due to lower commissions expenses of $662,000 due to the mid-year discontinuance of the Waterpik
agency agreement. These savings were partially offset by increases in personnel and travel expenses for
Company sales representatives hired to replace the Waterpik agents. Sales and marketing expenses
were 26% of sales in 2002, compared to 29% of sales in 2001. Sales and marketing expenses were
$8,371,000 in 2001, a 7% decrease as compared to the $9,038,000 in sales and marketing expenses for
2000. The decrease in sales and marketing expenses was due to lower expenses from offices closed in
Virginia and Texas of $427,000 combined with lower sales and marketing expense in pool lighting of
$422,000, partially offset by increases in European and other sales and marketing expenses of $182,000.
Sales and marketing expenses were 29% of sales in 2001, compared to 24% of sales in 2000. The
Company expects sales and marketing expenses to be down slightly in 2003.

General and administrative expenses were $2,709,000 in 2002, a 25% decrease as compared to
$3,627,000 in 2001. The decrease in general and administrative expenses was largely due to a decrease
of $444,000 in amortization of goodwill due to a change in accounting method. Previously goodwill was
amortized over the life of the acquired assets, whereas in 2002 goodwill is no longer amortized but is
subject to an annual impairment test according to Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
142. The balance of the decrease in general and administrative expense was due to lower personnel,
legal and other general and administrative expenses of $474,000. General and administrative expenses
were 9% of sales in 2002 as compared to 12% of sales in 2001 and 11% of sales in 2000. General and
administrative expenses were $3,627,000 in 2001, a 10% decrease as compared to $4,023,000 in 2000.
The decrease in general and administrative expenses was largely due to a charge of $800,000 having
been taken in 2000 to increase the allowance for doubtful accounts, whereas there was no such expense
in 2001. This decrease was partially offset in 2001 by increases in personnel, legal and other general
and administrative expenses of $404,000. The Company expects general and administrative expenses to
be relatively flat in 2003.

Included in total operating expenses for 2000 was a write-off of in-process technology acquired for
$938,000 as part of the Unison acquisition in the first quarter. There was no such write-off in total
operating expenses in either 2002 or 2001. The $938,000 allocated to in-process technology acquired
was for certain lamp and optics technology and certain fiber producing technology the development of
which had not yet reached a stage where it was certain that marketable products would result. There is
currently no alternative use for this technology as it was designed specifically for the lighting industry.
In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the amount allocated to in-process
technology acquired, which was determined by an independent valuation, was recorded as a charge to
expense in the first quarter of 2000.

Other Income and Expenses

Interest expense, which consists of expense for bank interest, was $66,000 in 2002 as compared to
$122,000 in 2001. The decrease in interest expense was a result of lower interest rates experienced in
2002 as compared to 2001. Net interest expense in 2001 increased compared to net interest income of
$92,000 in 2000. The increase in interest expense was a result of higher borrowings experienced in the
first half of 2001 as compared to the first half of 2000.

Total interest and other income includes interest income and other non-operating income. This was
$41,000 in 2002, virtually the same as in 2001 and up slightly from 2000 levels of $30,000. Income (loss)
from the Company’s joint venture is recognized under the equity method. This was $16,000 in 2002
compared to $15,000 in 2001 and $4,000 in 2000.

The Company has certain long-term leases. Payments due under these leases are disclosed in
Note 10 of the Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes included elsewhere in this Report.
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Income Taxes

The Company took a non-cash charge of $2,405,000 to record a valuation allowance against its
deferred tax asset in the third fiscal quarter of 2002, in accordance with FASB 109. After an offset for
tax benefits taken in 2002, the net tax provision including the charge was $2,078,000. The income tax
benefit (provision) rate was (144)% in 2002 as compared to 37% in 2001 and 36% in 2000.

Net Income

Largely due to the decrease in expenses in 2002, the amount of loss before income taxes decreased
by $1,940,000 compared to 2001. After including the net tax charge, the amount of net loss increased to
$3,519,000 compared to a net loss of $2,128,000 in 2001. Because the decline of sales and gross profit
was significantly greater than the decline in operating expenses, there was a net loss of $2,128,000 in
2001 as compared to the net loss of $454,000 in 2000, representing a 369% change.

Total write-offs and increased reserves taken in 2000 can be summarized as follows:

Write-off of in-process technology acquired ..................... $ 938,000
Reserve for accounts receivable deemed not collectible .. ........... 800,000
Write-down of certain inventories. . . . ........ .t 350,000
Total write-offs and reserves increases $2,088,000

Purchased in-process research and development

In February 2000, the Company purchased certain assets of Unison and accounted for the
acquisition as a purchase. In the first quarter of 2000 a total of $938,000 was expensed as a write-off of
in-process technology acquired. The Company tracks progress against assumptions made at the time of
the acquisition for the research and development projects which were included in the in-process
technology acquired.

The total purchase price of approximately $2,550,000 was assigned, based on an independent
appraisal, to the fair value of the assets acquired, including $625,000 to tangible assets acquired,
$977,000 to identified intangible assets, $938,000 to in process research and development, and $10,000
to goodwill. The in-process research and development was expensed at the acquisition date. The value
assigned to this acquired in-process research and development was determined by identifying research
projects in areas for which technological feasibility had not been established as of the acquisition date.
These projects include the Compound Parabolic Collector (“CPC”) project and the extruded large core
fiber project. The value was determined by estimating the revenue contribution and the percentage of
completion of each of these projects. The projects were deemed to be 56% complete on the date of
acquisition, based on leveraging core technologies. The net cash flows were then discounted utilizing a
weighted average cost of capital of 35%, which, among other related assumptions, the Company
believes to be reasonable. This discount rate takes into consideration the inherent uncertainties
surrounding the successful development of the in-process research and development, the expected
profitability levels of such technology, and the uncertainty of technological advances that could
potentially impact the estimates described above. If these projects are not successfully developed, the
Company’s future revenues and achievement of profitability may not be realized. Additionally, the value
of other intangible assets acquired may become impaired.

To date, actual results have been materially consistent with the Company’s assumptions at the time
of the acquisition. The assumptions primarily consist of a projected completion date for the products to
be derived from the in-process technology acquired, the estimated cost required to bring them to
completion and the pre-tax profit projected to be derived from these products. The initial illuminators
using the CPC technology shipped in the fourth quarter of 2001. While this was later than planned, the
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profit projected to be achieved from these products was not forecast to be material in fiscal 2000 or
2001. Initial products based on extruded solid core fiber are still under development and are not
expected to begin shipping until late 2003, as projected in the development plan at the time of the
acquisition. Failure to achieve the expected levels of revenue and net income from these products
during the complete life cycle will have a negative impact on the return on investment expected at the
time that the acquisition was finalized. This could also cause a reduction in value of other assets
related to these development activities.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2002, cash and cash equivalents were $231,000 as compared to $584,000 as of
December 31, 2001. There was a net utilization of cash in the amount of $1,872,000 from operating
activities in 2002. This was a result of cash utilized to fund the loss of $3,519,000, offset by a change in
deferred tax of $2,035,000 and depreciation and amortization of $1,086,000, along with cash utilized to
fund increases in inventories of $1,239,000 and other cash uses of $235,000. In addition, cash for
investing activities totaling $793,000 was used to fund acquisitions of fixed assets, $142,000 of which was
used to acquire tooling for new products released in 2002 and scheduled to be introduced in 2003.
Cash from financing activities amounted to $2,213,000 in 2002 and related primarily to proceeds from
issuances of common stock of $972,000 from a private placement completed in the first fiscal quarter of
2002, along with bank borrowings of $522,000 and a bank overdraft of $691,000. Total cash utilization
in 2002 was $353,000 as compared to the utilization of cash in 2001 of $646,000. Cash balances decline
during the first quarter of each fiscal year, but then increase in the third quarter as a result of the
seasonal variance in cash needs of the Company, primarily as a result of the seasonal purchasing and
payment patterns in the pool industry.

In December 2001, the Company agreed to a collateralized bank line of credit with Comerica
Bank for working capital purposes for borrowings against accounts receivable and inventory up to
$5,000,000. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had $416,000 in borrowings against this line of
credit. The Company expects to increase its utilization of its bank line of credit in the first quarter of
fiscal 2003. Certain covenants associated with the bank line of credit require the Company to maintain
certain net worth, debt to equity and quick ratios on a monthly basis for its U.S. and consolidated
operations. The agreement is cancellable upon 30 days notice by either party. As of December 31, 2002
the Company was in conformity with these net worth and financial ratios.

The Company also has a $403,000 bank overdraft agreement with Lloyds Bank Plc through its UK
subsidiary. There were no net borrowings against the overdraft agreement as of December 31, 2002. In
addition, at year end the Company had a total borrowing of $484,000 against a credit facility which
totals $616,000 held by its German subsidiary. This borrowing is largely held in order to finance the
building of new offices owned by the Company in Berching, Germany. In addition, there is a revolving
line of credit of $214,000 (in Euros) with Sparkasse Neumarkt Bank. As of December 31, 2002, there
were $142,000 in borrowings against this facility.
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Future payments for borrowings by the Company’s German subsidiary and minimum lease
payments under operating leases as of December 31, 2002, were as follows (in thousands):

Borrowings Non-

By Cancelable

German Operating
Subsidiary Leases
2003 L e $177 § 855
2004 .. — 881
2005 .. — 917
2006 ... e — 717
Thereafter . .. ... ... .. 449 —
$626 $4,241

Additionally, the Company has issued warrants for the purchase of 100,000 shares of common
stock on a contingency basis to the former shareholders of Lightly Expressed, Inc., a company which
the Company acquired in 2000. Under the terms of these warrants, if the contingencies are met, the
Company may be required to pay cash in lieu of shares of the Company’s stock. The Company is not
able to predict the amount of cash which might be paid out under this arrangement, if any.

In a March 2002 private placement, the Company sold 328,633 shares of common stock, for net
proceeds of $972,000 (net of fees and expenses). In addition, each purchaser was issued a warrant to
purchase a number of shares of the Company’s common stock equal to 20% of the number of shares of
common stock purchased by such purchaser in the offering. The purchase price of the common stock
was $3.00 per share, which was based on a 8.8% discount on the 10 day average price as of March 14,
2002. The purchase price of the common stock for insiders who participated in the offering was $3.35,
which was the higher of (1) the price on the closing date or (2) the 10 day average price as of
March 14, 2002, plus a $.03 premium because of the issuances of the warrants. The warrants have an
initial exercise price of $4.30 per share, with a life of 5 years.

The Company incurred a net loss of $3,519,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002 and has an
accumulated deficit of $5,178,000. Management believes funds generated from operations in 2003 along
with its available bank line (Note 9 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) will be
sufficient to finance the Company’s operations for the next twelve months. However, the Company is
evaluating and may pursue additional equity or debt financing in order to address the Company’s
overall business objectives. There can be no assurance that such financing will be available at all, or
available at a price that is acceptable to the Company. In addition, management plans to make certain
expense reductions during the second quarter of 2003 in those parts of the Company’s operations which
will not affect the EFO product launch. Failure to generate sufficient revenues, raise additional capital
or reduce certain discretionary spending could have an adverse impact on the Company’s ability to
achieve its intended business objectives.

Subsequent Event

In February 2003, the Company was awarded an R&D contract with the United States Department
of Defense. The Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (“DARPA”) contract calls for payments
of $6,818,000 to the Company over three years based on achievement of various R&D milestones.
Upon achievement of these milestones, $2,115,000, $2,599,000 and $2,104,000 will be paid to the
Company during the calendar years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. The
milestones are for work to be performed in developing fiber optic illuminators and fixtures for
installation on ships and planes. Funds for the first year have budget approval and funds for subsequent
years will be released upon budget approval for those years.
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Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses in the financial statements. Material differences may result
in the amount and timing of revenue and expenses if different judgments or different estimates were
utilized. See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contains a discussion of the
Company’s significant accounting policies. Critical accounting policies, judgments and estimates which
we believe have the most significant impact on the Company’s financial statements are set forth below:

° Revenue recognition;
o Allowances for doubtful accounts, returns and discounts;
o Valuation of inventories; and

> Accounting for income taxes.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue upon: (1) receipt of a purchase order from the customer or
completion of a sales agreement with the customer; (2) shipment of the product has occurred or
services have been provided; and (3) the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is
reasonably assured. Revenue from product sales is generally recognized upon shipment, and allowances
are provided for estimated returns, discounts and warranties. Such allowances are adjusted periodically
to reflect actual and anticipated returns, discounts and warranty expenses. Revenue on sales that
include services such as design, integration and installation is generally recognized using the
percentage-of-completion method. Under the percentage-of-completion method, revenue recognized
reflects the portion of the anticipated contract revenue that has been earned, equal to the ratio of
labor costs expended to date to anticipated final labor costs, based on current estimates of labor costs
to complete the project. The Company’s products are generally subject to warranties, and the Company
provides for the estimated future costs of repair, replacement or customer accommodation in costs of
sales. Fees for research and development services are determined on a cost-plus basis and are
recognized as revenue when performed.

The Company recognizes shipments to pool lighting distributors as revenue upon shipment.
Estimated sales returns are recorded upon recognition of revenues from distributors having rights of
return, including exchange rights for unsold products. Historically, there have been minimal returns.
Shipments made to commercial lighting representatives and distributors are also recognized as revenue
upon shipment because in these instances the representative or distributor is acting as a pass-through
agent to a specific lighting project for which the Company has an existing contract or purchase order.

Revenue recognition in each period is dependent on our application of these accounting policies.
Our application of percentage-of-completion accounting is subject to our estimates of labor costs to
complete each project. In the event that actual results differ from these estimates or we adjust these
estimates in future periods, our operating results for a particular period could be materially affected.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts, Returns and Discounts

The Company establishes allowances for doubtful accounts, returns and discounts for specifically
identified doubtful accounts, returns and discounts based on credit profiles of our customers, current
economic trends, contractual terms and conditions and historical payment, return and discount
experience. For each year ended December 31, the allowance for doubtful accounts, returns and
discounts was $1,034,000 for 2002, $1,334,000 for 2001 and $2,178,000 for 2000. The amount charged to
revenue for returns and discounts was $956,000 in 2002, $1,487,000 in 2001 and $1,357,000 in 2000. The
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amount charged to expenses for doubtful accounts was $78,000 in 2002, $274,000 in 2001 and $936,000
in 2000. In the event that actual returns, discounts and bad debts differ from these estimates or we
adjust these estimates in future periods, our operating results and financial position could be materially
affected.

Valuation of Inventories

The Company states inventories at the lower of standard cost (which approximates actual cost
determined using the first-in-first-out method) or market. The Company establishes provisions for
excess and obsolete inventories after evaluation of historical sales, current economic trends, forecasted
sales, product lifecycles and current inventory levels. During 2002, $201,000 was charged to cost of sales
for excess and obsolete inventories. Adjustments to our estimates, such as forecasted sales and expected
product lifecycles, could harm our operating results and financial position could be materially affected.

Accounting for Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to
estimate our income tax liability in each of the jurisdictions in which we do business. This process
involves estimating our actual current tax expense together with assessing temporary differences
resulting form differing treatment of items, such as deferred revenues, for tax and accounting purposes.
These differences result in deferred tax assets and assets and liabilities, which are included in our
consolidated balance sheet. We must then assess the likelihood that these deferred tax assets will be
recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent we believe that recovery is not more likely
than not or is unknown, we must establish a valuation allowance.

Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our
deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our deferred tax assets.
At December 31, 2002, we have recorded a full valuation allowance of $2.4 million against our deferred
tax assets, due to uncertainties related to our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets, primarily
consisting of certain net operating losses carried forward. The valuation allowance is based on our
estimates of taxable income by jurisdiction and the period over which our deferred tax assets will be
recoverable.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”), No. 141, “Business Combinations” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets”. Under SFAS No. 141, all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001
must be accounted for using the purchase method. SFAS No. 142 requires, among other things, the
discontinuance of goodwill amortization. In addition, the standard includes provisions upon adoption
for the reclassification of certain existing recognized intangibles as goodwill, reassessment of the useful
lives of existing recognized intangibles and the testing for impairment of existing goodwill and other
intangibles. The Company adopted SFAS No. 142 effective January 1, 2002 (see Note 6 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements).
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In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets”, which addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal
of long-lived assets. This Statement supersedes SFAS No. 121 and the accounting and reporting
provisions of Accounting Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of
Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual
and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions”, for the disposal of a segment of a business. The
provisions of SFAS No. 144 were adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2002.

In November 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on EITF Issue
No. 01-09, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer or a Reseller of the
Vendor’s Products.” EITF No. 01-09 requires recording certain consideration paid to distributors of the
Company’s products as a reduction of revenue. The provisions of EITF No. 01-09 were adopted by the

Company beginning January 1, 2002. The Company has incurred no change as a result of adopting
EITF No. 01-09.

In June 2002, FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Exit or Disposal Activities”. SFAS 146
addresses significant issues regarding the recognition, measurement and reporting of costs that are
associated with exit and disposal activities, including restructuring activities that are currently accounted
for under EITF No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other
Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” The scope of
SFAS 146 also includes costs related to terminating a contract that is not a capital lease and
termination benefits that employees who are involuntarily terminated receive under the terms of a
one-time benefit arrangement that is not an ongoing benefit arrangement or an individual deferred-
compensation contract. We are required to adopt the provisions of SFAS 146 effective for exit or
disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The provisions of EITF No. 94-3 shall continue to
apply for an exit activity initiated under an exit plan that met the criteria of EITF No. 94-3 prior to the
adoption of SFAS No. 146. The adoption of SFAS 146 will change on a prospective basis the timing of
when restructuring charges are recorded from a commitment date approach to when the liability is
incurred. Management does not expect the adoption of SFAS 146 to have a material impact on the
Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 457), “Guarantor’s
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others.” FIN 45 requires that a liability be recorded in the guarantor’s balance sheet
upon issuance of a guarantee. In addition, FIN 45 requires disclosures about the guarantees that an
entity has issued, including a reconciliation of changes in the entity’s product warranty liabilities. The
initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of FIN 45 are applicable on a prospective basis to
guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002, irrespective of the guarantor’s fiscal year-end.
The disclosure requirements of FIN 45 are effective for financial statements of interim or annual
periods ending after December 15, 2002. Management does not expect the adoption of FIN 45 to have
a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. The Company has
adopted the disclosure provisions of FIN 45 relating to product warranty effective for the year ended
December 31, 2002 (see Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on Issue
No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” EITF Issue No. 00-21 provides
guidance on how to account for arrangements that involve the delivery or performance of multiple
products, services and/or rights to use assets. The provisions of EITF Issue No. 00-21 will apply to
revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003. Management does
not expect the adoption of EITF Issue No. 00-21 to have a material impact on the Company’s financial
position or results of operations.
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In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,
Transition and Disclosure” (“SFAS 1487). SFAS 148 provides alternative methods of transition for a
voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation.
SFAS 148 also requires that disclosures of the pro forma effect of using the fair value method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation be displayed more prominently and in a tabular
format. Additionally, SFAS 148 requires disclosure of the pro forma effect in interim financial
statements. The transition and annual disclosure requirements of SFAS 148 are effective for fiscal years
ended after December 15, 2002. The interim disclosure requirements are effective for interim periods
ending after December 15, 2002. The Company has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS 148
as of December 31, 2002 (see Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51.” FIN 46 requires certain variable interest
entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity
do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk
for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties. FIN 46 is effective immediately for all new variable interest entities created or acquired after
January 31, 2003. For variable interest entities created or acquired prior to February 1, 2003, the
provisions of FIN 46 must be applied for the first interim or annual period beginning after June 15,
2003. Management is still assessing the impact of FIN 46 on the Company’s financial position and
results of operations.

Factors that May Affect Results

Our quarterly operating results are subject to fluctuations caused by many factors which could result in
decreased revenues and a drop in the price of our common stock.

Our quarterly operating results can vary significantly depending upon a number of factors. It is
difficult to predict the lighting market’s acceptance of our products on a quarterly basis, and the level
and timing of orders received can fluctuate substantially. Our sales volumes also fluctuate. Historically
we have shipped a substantial portion of our quarterly sales in the last month of each of the second
and fourth quarters of the year. Cur product development and marketing expenditures may vary
significantly from quarter to quarter and are made well in advance of potential resulting revenue.
Significant portions of our expenses are relatively fixed in advance based upon our forecasts of future
sales. If sales fall below our expectations in any given quarter, we will not be able to make any
significant adjustment in our operating expenses, and our operating results will be adversely affected.

Our sales are dependent upon new construction levels and are subject to seasonal and general economic
trends.

Sales of our pool and spa lighting products, which currently are available only with newly
constructed pools and spas, depend substantially upon the level of new construction of pools. Sales of
commercial lighting products also depend significantly upon the level of new building construction and
renovation. Construction levels are affected by housing market trends, interest rates and the weather.
Because of the seasonality of construction, our sales of swimming pool and commercial lighting
products, and thus our overall revenues and income, have tended to be significantly lower in the first
quarter of each year. Various economic and other trends may alter these seasonal trends from year to
year, and we cannot predict the extent to which these seasonal trends will continue. Additionally, some
business segments, such as themed entertainment, remain weak as a result of reduced air travel
following the September 11 tragedy and the uncertainty in world affairs. Themed entertainment is a key
source of revenues for the Company’s commercial lighting segment and continued softness in this
industry will potentially have a material negative effect on the Company’s future commercial lighting
sales.
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If we are not able to successfully develop, manufacture, market and sell our new products, our operating
results will decline.

We introduced additional new products in 2002 and expect to introduce further new products in
2003 in the Pool and Spa Lighting and Commercial Lighting markets. We could have difficulties
manufacturing these new products as a result of our inexperience with them. Also, it is difficult to
predict whether the market will accept these new products. If any of these new products fails to meet
expectations, our operating results will be adversely affected.

We operate in markets that are intensely and increasingly competitive.

Competition is increasing in a number of our markets. A number of companies offer directly
competitive products, including fiber optic lighting products for downlighting, display case and water
lighting, and neon and other lighted signs. Our competitors include some very large and
well-established companies such as Philips, Schott, 3M, Bridgestone, Mitsubishi and Osram/Siemens. All
of these companies have substantially greater financial, technical and marketing resources than we do.
We anticipate that any future growth in fiber optic lighting will be accompanied by continuing increases
in competition, which could adversely affect our operating results if we cannot compete effectively.

We rely on intellectual property and other proprietary information that may not be protected and that may
be expensive to protect.

We currently hold 33 patents. There can be no assurance, however, that our issued patents are
valid or that any patents applied for will be issued. We have a policy of seeking to protect our
intellectual property through, among other things, the prosecution of patents with respect to certain of
our technologies. There are many issued patents and pending patent applications in the field of fiber
optic technology, and certain of our competitors hold and have applied for patents related to fiber
optic lighting. Although, to date, we have not been involved in litigation challenging our intellectual
property rights or asserting intellectual property rights of others, we have in the past received
communications from third parties asserting rights in our patents or that our technology infringes
intellectual property rights held by such third parties. Based on information currently available to us,
we do not believe that any such claims involving our technology or patents are meritorious. However,
we may be required to engage in litigation to protect our patent rights or to defend against the claims
of others. In the event of litigation to determine the validity of any third party claims or claims by us
against such third party, such litigation, whether or not determined in our favor, could result in
significant expense and divert the efforts of our technical and management personnel, regardless of the
outcome of such litigation.

We rely on distributors for a significant portion of our sales and terms and conditions of sales are subject to
change with very little notice.

Most of the Company’s products are sold through distributors and the Company does not have
long-term contracts with its distributors. Some of these distributors are quite large, particularly in the
pool products market, such as South Central Pools (“SCP”). These distributors in some cases sell the
products of competitors as well. If these distributors, particularly SCP, significantly change their terms
with the Company or change their historical pattern of ordering products from the Company, there
could be a significant impact on the Company’s revenues and profits.

We depend on key employees in a competitive market for skilled personnel, and the loss of the services of
any of our key employees could materially affect our business.

The Company’s future success will depend to a large extent on the continued contributions of
certain employees, many of whom would be difficult to replace. The future success of the Company
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also will depend on its ability to attract and retain qualified technical, sales, marketing and
management personnel, for whom there is competition. The loss of or failure to attract and retain any
such persons could delay product development cycles, disrupt the Company’s operations or otherwise
harm the Company’s business or results of operations.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers from whom we do not have a guarantee to adequate supplies,
increasing the risk that loss of or problems with a single supplier could result in impaired margins,
reduced production volumes, strained customer relations and loss of business.

Mitsubishi is the sole supplier of the Company’s fiber, other than the large core fiber the Company
now manufactures following the Unison acquisition. The Company also relies on a sole source for
certain lamps, reflectors, remote control devices and power supplies. The loss of one or more of the
Company’s suppliers could result in delays in the shipment of products, additional expense associated
with redesigning products, impaired margins, reduced production volumes, strained customer relations
and loss of business or could otherwise harm the results of operations.

We depend on ADLT for a number of components for our products. ADLT has recently filed for Chapter 11
bankruptcy, which could result in an interruption of supply for these components.

ADLT supplies the Company with certain lamps, power supplies, reflectors and coatings. The
Company has identified alternative suppliers for these components, but there could be an interruption
of supply if a transition to a new supplier were required.

Current global conflicts, including military action in Iraq, could adversely affect the Company’s customers or
suppliers. This could result in a business slow down or an interruption of supply.

Beginning in March 2003, the United States and its allies have undertaken military conflict with
Iraq. Severe or protracted military conflict could negatively affect the Company’s revenues and its
sources of supply. This could have a significant negative impact on the Company’s financial results in
future periods depending on the length of the conflict and severity of the conflict.

We depend on sufficient cash liquidity from all sources of cash available to the Company to finance
on-going operations and growth.

While the Company has historically been able to fund cash needs from operations, from bank lines
of credit or from capital markets, due to competitive, economic or other factors there can be no
assurance that the Company will continue to be able to do so. Adverse business conditions due to a
continued weak economic environment or a weak market for the Company’s products could lead to
continued negative cash flow from operations and may require the Company to raise additional
financing, including equity financing. The Company may be required to raise additional capital, at times
and in amounts, which are uncertain, especially under the current capital market conditions. Under
these circumstances, if the Company is unable to acquire additional capital or is required to raise it on
terms that are less satisfactory than desired, it may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
financial conditicn, which could require the Company to curtail its operations significantly, sell
significant assets, seek arrangements with strategic partners or other parties that may require it to
relinquish significant rights to products, technologies or markets, or explore other strategic alternatives
including a merger or sale of the Company.
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Other factors

Our business is subject to additional risks that could materially and adversely affect our future
business, including:

¢ manufacturing risks, including the risks of shortages in materials or components necessary to our
manufacturing and assembly operations, the risks of increases in the prices of raw materials and
components and the risks of being unable to achieve certain gross profit margin improvements.

* risks in changes in competitor prices to which the Company would need to respond;

* sales and distribution risks, such as risks of changes in product mix or distribution channels that
result in lower margins;

e risks of the loss of a significant distributor or sales representative;

* risks of the loss of or substantial decrease in orders by a significant customer or swimming pool
builder;

e risks of the effects of volume discounts that we grant from time to time to our larger customers,
including reduced profit margins;

° risks of product returns and exchanges: we cannot be assured that we will not experience
component problems in the future that could require increased warranty reserves and
manufacturing costs;

¢ risks associated with product development and introduction problems, such as increased
research, development and marketing expenses associated with new product introductions;

¢ dependence on collaborating with third parties, which are not subject to material contractual
commitments, to augment the Company’s research and development efforts; and

e risks associated with delays in the introduction of new products and technologies, including lost
sales and loss of market share.

Item 7A. Qualitative or Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk

At December 31, 2002, the Company had $231,000 in cash held in foreign currencies as translated
at period end foreign currency exchange rates. The balances for cash held overseas in foreign currencies
is subject to exchange rate risk. The Company has a potlicy of maintaining cash balances in local
currencies unless an amount of cash is occasionally transferred in order to repay intercompany debts.

The Company has certain bank borrowings in foreign currencies. The Company had a total
borrowing of $484,000 against a credit facility which totals $616,000 (in Euros) held by its German
subsidiary. This borrowing is largely held in order to finance the building of new offices owned by the
Company in Berching, Germany. Of the amounts due under this borrowing, $35,000 is due in 2003 and
$439,000 is due in 2008. In addition, there is a revolving line of credit of $214,000 (in Euros) with
Sparkasse Neumarkt Bank. As of December 31, 2002, there was $142,000 in borrowings against this
facility.

Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes thereto required by this item
are listed and set forth in this report in Item 15 (a). The accompanying notes are an integral part of
these consolidated financial statements.
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Supplementary Financial Information

The following table sets forth selected unaudited financial information for the Company for the
eight quarters in the period ended December 31, 2002. This information has been prepared on the
same basis as the audited financial statements and, in the opinion of management, contains all
adjustments necessary for a fair presentation thereof.

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

2002 QUARTERS ENDED

Netsales. ... ... . s
Grossprofit. .. ... .. .
Asapercentofnetsales..........................
Net income (1085} . . ...
Asapercentofnetsales..........................

Net income (loss) per share:

Basic . ...

2001 QUARTERS ENDED

Netsales .. ... ..ot
Grossprofit. ... ...
Asapercentofnetsales................. ... ......
Netincome (loSS) .. ....... ... . i
Asapercentofnetsales. .........................

Net income (loss) per share:

Basic . ........ ... .. . . . T,

DEC. 31 SER. 3¢ JUN. 30 MAR. 31

$7,447  $7,155  $8,768 $7,590
2,638 2,567 3,383 2,886
35.4% 359%  38.6% 38.0%

(478)  (2,974)* 3 (70)
64)% (“1.6% —%  (09)%

$(0.09) $(0.58) $ —  $(0.01)

$(0.09) $(058) $ —  $(0.01)

DEC. 31 SEP. 30 JUN. 30 MAR. 31

$6,989  $6,717  $8471  $6,876
2874 2531 3433 2,609
411%  317%  405%  31.9%
(518)  (615)  (278)  (717)
(T4% (92% (3% (10.5%

$(0.11)  $(0.13) $(0.06)  $(0.15)
$(0.11)  $(0.13) $(0.06)  $(0.15)

*  Note: Included in these results is a $2,405,000 charge for a valuation allowance for deferred taxes
taken in the quarter ended September 30, 2002.

In accordance with SFAS 142 the Company ceased amortizing goodwill as of December 31, 2001.
Refer to Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.
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PART IIE

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this Item regarding directors and nominees is incorporated herein by
reference to the information under the caption “PROPOSAL NO. 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS”
in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC in connection with the
solicitation of proxies for the Company’s 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 21,
2003 (the “Proxy Statement”).

Item 405 of Regulation S-K calls for disclosure of any known late filings or failure by an insider to
file a report required by Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. This
disclosure is contained in the section entitled “SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP
REPORTING COMPLIANCE” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Executive Officers

The executive officers of the Company who are not directors, and their ages as of December 31,
2002, are as follows:

Name Age Position
John Davenport ........... 58  Chief Operating Officer, Chief Technology Officer

Roger Buelow . . ........... 30 Vice President, Engineering

Robert A. Connors . ........ 54  Vice President, Finance, Chief Financial Officer

Barry R. Greenwald .. ... ... 56  Senior Vice President and General Manager, Pool Division
J. Steven Keplinger .. ....... 43 Senior Vice President, Operations and Retail

Mr. Davenport joined the Company in November 1999 as Vice President, Chief Technology Officer
and was appointed Chief Operating Officer in July 2002. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Davenport
served as President of Unison from 1998 to 1999. Mr. Davenport began his career at GE Lighting in
1972 as a research physicist and thereafter served 26 years in various capacities including GE Lighting’s
research and development Manager and as development manager for high performance LED projects.
He is a recognized global expert in light sources, lighting systems and lighting applications, with special
emphasis in low wattage discharge lamps, electronic ballast technology and distributed lighting systems
using fiber optics.

Mr. Buelow was appointed Vice President, Engineering for the Company in February 2003. Prior
to joining Fiberstars in 1999, he served as Director of Engineering for Unison from 1998 to 1999. Prior
to that he served 4 years as an engineer at General Electric in the Lighting division working on several
fiber optic lighting projects. Mr. Buelow holds BS and MS degrees in Applied Mathematics and
Systems Engineering from Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, Ohio and is a Certified Quality
Engineer with five utility patents.

Mr. Connors joined the Company in July 1998 as Vice President, Finance, and Chief Financial
Officer. From 1984 to 1998, Mr. Connors held a variety of positions for Micro Focus Group Plc, a
software company with 1997 revenues of $165 million, including Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Operating Officer. Prior to working for Micro Focus Group Plc, he held senior finance positions with
Eagle Computer and W. R. Grace.

Mr. Greenwald joined the Company in October 1989 as General Manager, Pool Division. He
became Vice President in September 1993 and Senior Vice President in February 1997. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Greenwald served as National Sales Manager at Aquamatic, a swimming pool
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accessory company, from August 1987 to October 1989. From May 1982 to August 1987,
Mr. Greenwald served as National Sales Manager at Jandy Inc., a swimming pool equipment company.

Mr. Keplinger joined the Company in August 1988 as Manager of Operations. He became Vice
President in 1991 and Senior Vice President in February 1997. From June 1986 to August 198§,
Mr. Keplinger was a sales representative at Leemah Electronics, an electronics manufacturing company.
From February 1983 to June 1986, Mr. Keplinger was a sales manager with California Magnetics Corp,
a custom transformer manufacturing company.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information regarding executive compensation required by Item 11 is incorporated herein by
reference to the information in the Proxy Statement under the captions “EXECUTIVE
COMPENSATION AND OTHER MATTERS,” “PROPCSAL NO. 1: ELECTION OF
DIRECTCORS—Director Compensation” and “PROPCOSAL NO. 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS—
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation.”

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management
required by Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to the information in the Proxy Statement
under the caption “SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
MANAGEMENT.”

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The information regarding equity compensation plans required by Item 12 can be found in Item 5.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information regarding certain relationships and related transactions required by Item 13 is
incorporated herein by reference to the information in the Proxy Statement under the caption
“CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS.”

Item 14. Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Within the 90 days prior to the date of this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under
the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedure pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14.
Based upon that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting them
to material information relating to the Company (including its consolidated subsidiaries) required to be
included in reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act.

(b) Change in Internal Controls

There have been no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or in other factors that
could significantly affect these internal controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation, including
any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) (1) Financial Statements

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Fiberstars, Inc.
Fremont, California

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equity and cash flows present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Fiberstars, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the
Company) at December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the
Company ceased amortization of its goodwill on adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

February 14, 2003, except for Note 16, for
which the date is March 17, 2003
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FIBERSTARS, INC,
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS, December 31, 2002 and 200L

(amounis in thousands except share amounts)

2002 2001
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .. ......... ...t ireeninnennnnnnn. $§ 231 § 584
Accounts receivable, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $435 in 2002 and
3415100 2001 . ... e e e 5,208 4,802
Notes and other receivables . ....... ... ... . . i 239 209
INVentOrIES . . o ot o e e e 6,808 5,423
Prepaids and other current assets .. ........... .. .. 343 623
Deferred income taxes . . . . .. o vt e — 1,441
Total current assetS . . . . v vt it e e 12,829 13,082
Fixed assets, Met . . . .. it e e e 2,581 2,600
Goodwill, Net . . ... e 4,032 4,537
Intangibles, net . . ... ... 462 —
Other 58618 . . v ot e e e e e e e 197 279
Deferred InCOMe 1aXES . . ..ottt e e — 936
TOtal @SSELS . o v v v e e $20,101  $21,434
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
ACCOUnts Payable . . . .. vt $ 2,011 §$ 2,395
Accruals and other current liabilities . . . . ........ ... ... . .. . . ... ... 2,117 2,088
Bank overdraft ... ... ... 691 —
Short-term bank borrowings . .. ... ... 593 101
Total current liabilities . . .. ... . e 5,412 4,584
Long-term bank borrowings . . ................. e 449 419
Total Habilities . . .. .o o e e 5,861 5,003
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10).
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share:
Authorized: 2,000,000 shares in 2002 and 2001
Issued and outstanding: no shares in 2002 and 2001
Common stock, par value $0.0001 per share:
Authorized: 30,000,000 shares in 2002 and 2001
Issued and outstanding: 4,667,321 shares in 2002 and 4,328,514 shares in 2001. . . 1 1
Additional paid-in capital . .. ... .. ... L 19,611 18,563
Notes receivable from shareholder . . .. ... ... ... .. .. .. . (75) (75)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss. ... ..... ... .. .. . oo (119) (399)
Accumulated deficit .. ... ... ... e (5,178)  (1,659)
Total shareholders’ equity . ......... ... .. ... . . . . 14,240 16,431
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity .. ................. .. ...... $20,101  $21,434

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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FIBERSTARS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(amounts in thousands except per share amounts)

2002 2001 2000
Netsales ... ... e $30,960 $29,053 $36,921
Cost of sales . ... . i e 19,486 17,606 21,902
Gross profit . . . ... 11,474 11,447 15,019
Operating expenses:

Research and development . .......... ... . ... ... . ... . ... 2,290 2,764 1,673
Sales and marketing .. ......... .. ... . 7,907 8,371 9,038
General and administrative . ... .. . e e e 2,709 3,627 4,023
Write-off of in-process technology acquired . ................... — — 938
Total operating expenses . ... ...... ..., 12,906 14,762 15,672
Loss from operations . . ..........c.. it (1,432) (3,315) (653)

Other income (expense):
Equity in joint venture’s income. . ... ... .. i 16 15 4
Interest and otherincome . .. ....... .. ... ... . L 41 41 30
Interest eXPense . . ... ...t (66) (122) (92)
Loss before income taxes ... ..........c.cooiiiiiii... (1,441)  (3,381) (711)
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes . ...................... (2,078) 1,253 257
Nt 0SS .« ottt et e $(3,519) $(2,128) $ (454)
Net loss per share—basic and diluted . .......... ... ... ... .... $ (0.70) $ (0.45) $ (0.10)
Shares used in per share calculation—basic and diluted ... .......... 5,028 4,756 4,572

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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FIBERSTARS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2601 and 2000

(amounts in thousands)

2002 2001 2000
NEE 0SS . v vttt $(3,519) $(2,128) $(454)
Other comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation adjustments ........................ 444 (192)  (196)
Income tax benefit (provision) . .. ... ... ... ... .. .. (164) 71 71
Comprehensive loss . ... ... . $(3,239) $(2,249) $(579)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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FIBERSTARS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(amounts in thousands)

Notes Accumulated (Accumulated
Additional Receivable Other Deficit
M Paid-In From Comprehensive Retaine)d
Shares Amount Capital Shareholder Loss Earnings Total

Balances, December 31,1999 .. . ... .. .. 4,004 $— $13,973 $(75) $(153) $ 923 $14,668
Exercise of common stock options . . .. .. 180 1 777 718
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options . . 174 174
Issuance of common stock under employee

stock purchase plan . ... .......... 4 22 22
Issuance of common stock for acquisitions . 100 775 775
Warrants issued during the year .. ... ... 2,722 2,722
Foreign exchange rate translation

adjustment . . ... ... L. (125) (125)
Netloss .. ... . ... .. ........ (454) (454)
Balances, December 31,2000, . . ... .. .. 4,288 1 18,443 (75) (278) 469 18,560
Exercise of common stock options . . . . .. 28 81 81
Issuance of common stock under employee

stock purchase plan . ............. 12 39 39
Foreign exchange rate translation

adjustment . . . ... ... ... ... (121) (121)
Netloss . ........ ... ... ........ (2,128) (2,128)
Balances, December 31,2001 .. ...... .. 4,328 1 18,563 (75 (399) (1,659) 16,431
Issuance of common stock—private

placement . ........... ... . ..., 329 972 972
Non-employee stock based compensation . . 48 48
Issuance of common stock under employee

stock purchase plan . .. ... .. ... .. 10 28 28
Foreign exchange rate translation

adjustment . . .. ... ... L 280 280
Netloss . ...... ... .. ... ... .. (3,519) (3,519)
Balances, December 31,2002 . . ........ 4,667 $1 $19,611 $(75) $(119) $(5,178)  $14,240

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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FIBERSTARS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

(amounts in thousands)

2002 2001 2000

Cash flows from operating activities:

NELLOSS « o vt e $(3,519) $(2,128) $ (454)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization . . ... ... . ... .. e 1,086 1,426 1,513

Write-off of in-process technology acquired .. .......... ... ... .. .. ... ... ... — — 938

Provision for doubtful accounts receivable . .. . ... ... .. . . 78 274 936

Non-employee stock based compensation . . ........... ... . 48 — —

Deferred InCOME taX€s . . . . . . o o v it 2,035 (808) (750)

Equity injoint venture . .. . ... .. . . e (16) (15) 4

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, trade . . ... .. .. L e 314 2,210 (1,785)
INVENIOTIES . . . . o o v e e e (1,239) 218 (1,369)
Prepaid and other Current assetS. . . . . . ..ot it i 334 (213) 63
Other assets . . . .. . i e e 151 (173) (222)
Accounts payable . . . ... e (344)  (1,101) 926
Accruals and other current labilities . . .. . ... ... ... L . (171) 89 (437)

Total adjustments. . . . ... .. L 1,647 1,907 (191)

Net cash used in operating activities . . . . . . ... ... .. .. (1,872) (221) (645)
Cash flows from investing activities:

Repayment of loans made under notes receivable . . . ... .. ... ... ... ... . . .. ... — — 79
Acquisition of fixed assets. . . . . ... e (793) (530) (935)

Net cash used in investing activities . . . . ... ... . . i (793) (530) (856)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuances of common StOCK . . . . . . . ... L e e 1,000 119 974
Proceeds from (repayments of) long-term bank borrowings . . . . ....... ... ... . ... 30 (38) (101)
Proceeds from short-term bank borrowings . . . .. ... ... L L o 492 93 1,500
Repayment of short-term bank borrowings . . .. ........ .. ... .. .. . o L — — (1,500)
Bank overdraft . . . . . ... e e 691 —

Net cash provided by financing activities . . . . ... ... ... . ... .. . 2,213 174 873
Effect of exchange rate changes oncash . . . . . ... ... ... e 99 (69) (46)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalenmts . .. ........ ... ... .. .. ... . ... .. ...... (353) (646) (674)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year . . . . . ... .. ... ... ... .. .. . . .0 584 1,230 1,904
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year . .. ... ..... ... ... . ... ... ... . . i, $ 231 § 584 $1,230
Supplemental information:

Interest paid . . . . . . . . $ 42 $ 122 § 93
Fully depreciated assets disposed of . . . ........ ... ... .. .. L o $1544 § — § —
Income taxes paid (received) . . . . . . ... e $ (636) $ 276 § 577

The Company purchased certain businesses during 2000. In conjunction with the acquisitions, assets and liabilities were assumed
as follows:

Fair value of assets acquired . . . . . .. . .. e $ 3,497
Capital stock and warrants iSsued . . . . . . . . L e e e e (3,497)
Liabilities assumed . . . . . . ..o e e $ 0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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FIBERSTARS, INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Operations:

Fiberstars, Inc. (the “Company”) develops and assembles lighting products using fiber optic
technology for commercial lighting and swimming pool and spa lighting applications. The Company
markets its products for worldwide distribution primarily through independent sales representatives,
distributors and swimming pool builders.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:
Basis of Presentation:

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Fiberstars, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

The Company incurred a net loss of $3,519,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002 and has an
accumulated deficit of $5,178,000. Management believes funds generated from operations in 2003 along
with its available bank line (Note 9 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) will be
sufficient to finance the Company’s operations for the next twelve months. However, the Company is
evaluating and may pursue additional equity or debt financing in order to address the Company’s
overall business objectives. There can be no assurance that such financing will be available, or if
available at a price that is acceptable to the Company. In addition, management plans to make certain
expense reductions during the second quarter of 2003 in those parts of the Company’s operations which
will not affect the EFO product launch. Failure to generate sufficient revenues, raise additional capital
or reduce certain discretionary spending could have an adverse impact on the Company’s ability to
achieve its intended business objectives.

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Use of Estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents:
The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a remaining maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.

Investments in Joint Ventures:

The Company records its investments in joint ventures under the equity method of accounting.

Fair Value of Financial Instrumemnts:

Carrying amounts of certain of the Company’s financial instruments including cash and cash
equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value
due to their short maturities. Based on borrowing rates currently available to the Company for loans
with similar terms, the carrying value of long-term debt obligations also approximates fair value.
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FIBERSTARS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued)
Revenue Recognition:

The Company recognizes revenue upon: (1) receipt of a purchase order from the customer or
completion of a sales agreement with the customer; (2) shipment of the product has occurred or
services have been provided; and (3) the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is
reasonably assured. Revenue from product sales is generally recognized upon shipment, and allowances
are provided for estimated returns, discounts and warranties. Such allowances are adjusted periodically
to reflect actual and anticipated returns, discounts and warranty expenses. Revenue on sales that
includes services such as design, integration and installation is generally recognized using the
percentage-of-completion method. Under the percentage-of-completion method, revenue recognized
reflects the portion of the anticipated contract revenue that has been earned, equal to the ratio of
labor costs expended to date to anticipated final labor costs, based on current estimates of labor costs
to complete the project. The Company’s products are generally subject to warranties, and the Company
provides for the estimated future costs of repair, replacement or customer accommodation in costs of
sales. Fees for research and development services are determined on a cost-plus basis and are
recognized as revenue when performed.

The Company recognizes shipments to pool lighting distributors as revenue upon shipment.
Estimated sales returns are recorded upon recognition of revenues from distributors having rights of
return, including exchange rights for unsold products. Shipments made to commercial lighting
representatives and distributors are also recognized as revenue upon shipment because in these
instances the representative or distributor is acting as a pass-through agent to a specific lighting project
for which the Company has an existing contract or purchase order.

Inventories:

The Company states inventories at the lower of standard cost (which approximates actual cost
determined using the first-in-first-out method) or market. The Company establishes provisions for
excess and obsolete inventories after evaluation of historical sales, current economic trends, forecasted
sales, product lifecycles and current inventory levels. Charges to cost of sales for excess and obsolete
inventories amounted to $201,000, $155,000 and $377,000 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Income Taxes:

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to
estimate our income tax liability in each of the jurisdictions in which we do business. This process
involves estimating our income tax liability in each of the jurisdictions in which we do business. This
process involves estimating our actual current tax expense together with assessing temporary differences
resulting form differing treatment of items, such as deferred revenues, for tax and accounting purposes.
These differences result in deferred tax assets and assets and liabilities, which are included in our
consolidated balance sheet. We must then assess the likelihood that these deferred tax assets will be
recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent we believe that recovery is not more likely
than not or unknown, we must establish a valuation allowance.

Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our
deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our deferred tax assets.
At December 31, 2002, we have recorded a full valuation allowance of $2,405,000 against our deferred
tax assets, due to uncertainties related to our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets, primarily
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FIBERSTARS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Pelicies: (Continued)

consisting of certain net operating losses carried forward. The valuation allowance is based on our
estimate of taxable income by jurisdiction and the period over which our deferred tax assets will be
recoverable.

Long-lived Assets:

Tangible assets represent purchased intangible assets and the excess of acquisition cost over the
fair value of tangible and identified intangible net assets the businesses acquired or goodwill. Fixed
assets are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives
of the related assets (two to five years). Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives or the lease term, whichever is shorter, generally 3 to 7 years.
Intangible assets from acquisitions are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated life of the
assets acquired, but in no case for a period longer than 10 years. When events or changes in
circumstances indicate that assets may be impaired, an evaluation is performed comparing the
estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset to the asset’s carrying amount to
determine if a write-down to market value or discounted cash flow is required.

Certain Risks and Concentrations:

The Company invests its excess cash in deposits and high-grade short-term securities with two
major banks.

The Company sells its products primarily to commercial lighting distributors and residential pool
distributors and pool installation contractors in North America, Europe and the Far East. The
Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not require
collateral. Although the Company maintains allowances for potential credit losses that it believes to be
adequate, a payment default on a significant sale could materially and adversely affect its operating
results and financial condition. At December 31, 2002, one customer accounted for 13% of accounts
receivable and at December 31, 2001, the same customer accounted for 10% of accounts receivable.
The customer also accounted for 9%, 8% and 9% of net sales in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company currently buys all of its small diameter stranded fiber, the main component of most
of its products, from one supplier. There are a limited number of fiber suppliers, and even if an
alternative supplier were obtained, a change in suppliers could cause delays in manufacturing and a
possible loss of sales which would adversely affect operating results.

The Company also relies on sole source suppliers for certain lamps, reflectors, remote control
devices and power supplies. Although the Company cannot predict the effect that the loss of one or
more of such suppliers would have on the Company, such loss could result in delays in the shipment of
products and additional expenses associated with redesigning products and could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s operating results.

Research and Development:

Research and development costs are charged to operations as incurred. In 2001 the Company
received a federal grant under National Institute of Standards and Technology (“NIST”) for up to
$2,000,000 over three years for research and development of solid core fiber for lighting purposes. This
award provided the Company with $520,000 in funding for the eleven month period beginning
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FIBERSTARS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Corntinued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued)

November 2000 and ended September 2001 and $914,000 for the one-year period ended

September 2002, and the Company has received approval to spend an additional $566,000 for the
one-year period ending September 2003. The Company records the amount of NIST funding for each
period as a credit to research and development expense. During the Company’s fiscal years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, a total of $874,000, $543,000 and $76,000 were recorded
respectively, as a credit to research and development expenses under the NIST grant. The accounting
for the NIST contract is subject to independent audit for each year of the award ending October 31.

Earnings Per Share:

Basic EPS is computed by dividing income (loss) available to common shareholders by the ‘
weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS is computed |
giving effect to all dilutive potential common shares that were outstanding during the period. Dilutive
potential common shares consist of incremental shares upon exercise of stock options.

A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of basic and diluted EPS is provided as follows
(in thousands, except per share amounts):

Years Ended December 31,

2082 2001 2000
Numerator—Basic and Diluted EPS
Netloss .ot $(3,519) $(2,128) $ (454)
Denominator—Basic and Diluted EPS
Weighted average shares outstanding . ............ 5,028 47765 4,572
Basic and diluted loss per share .................. $ (0.70) $ (0.45) $(0.10)

The shares outstanding used for calculating basic and diluted EPS includes 445,000 shares of
common stock issuable for no cash consideration upon exercise of certain exchange provisions of
warrants held by ADLT (see Note 5).

Options and warrants to purchase 1,598,076 shares, 1,529,678 shares and 1,667,861 shares of
common stock were outstanding at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, but were not
included in the calculations of diluted EPS because their exercise prices were greater than the average
fair market price of the common shares.

Stock-Based Compensation:

As of December 31, 2002, the Company has four stock-based employee compensation plans, which
are described more fully in Note 11. The Company accounts for those plans under the recognition and
measurement principles of APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related
Interpretations. No stock-based employee compensation cost is reflected in net income, as all options
granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common
stock on the date of grant. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per
share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of FASB Statement No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to stock-based employee compensation.
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FIBERSTARS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued)

(in thousands, except per share amounts):

Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Net Loss—as reported . . . .. ..ottt $(3,519) $(2128) $(454)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in

reported net income, net of related tax effects . ............ — —_ —
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense

determined under fair value based method for all awards, net

of related tax effects . . ... ... ... . ... o (699) (488)  (530)
Net Loss—Proforma.............cotiiiiniinnnnnn... $(4,218) $(2,616) $(984)
Basic and Diluted Loss Per Share—As reported . ............ $ (0.70) $ (0.45) $(0.10)
Basic and Diluted Loss Per Share—Pro forma............... $ (0.84) $ (0.55) $(0.22)

The fair value of each option grant and stock purchase plan grant combined is estimated on the

date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average
assumptions used for grants in 2002, 2001 and 2000:

2002 2001 2000
Fair value of options issued . . .. .................. $2.53 $1.89 $3.79
Exercise price ... ...... .. ..t $4.46 3.69 $6.20
Expected life of option . .. ........... ... ... .... 3.90 years 3.65 years 3.95 years
Risk-free interest rate . . . . .. ....... ... ..., 4.19% 4.61% 6.23%
Expected volatility ............... ... ...... 2% 67% 8%

Foreign Currency Translation:

The Company’s international subsidiaries use their local currencies as their functional currencies.

For those subsidiaries, assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates in effect at the balance
sheet date and income and expense accounts at average exchange rates during the year. Resulting
translation adjustments are recorded directly to a separate component of shareholders’ equity. Foreign
currency transaction gains and losses are included as a component of interest income and other. Gains
and losses from foreign currency translation are included as a separate component of comprehensive
income.

Advertising Expenses:

The Company expenses the costs of advertising as incurred. Advertising expenses were $203,000,

$13,000 and $97,000 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Product warranties:

The Company warrants finished goods against defects in material and workmanship under normal

use and service for periods of one to three years for illuminators and fiber. A liability for the estimated
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FIBERSTARS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continzed)

future costs under product warranties is maintained based on estimated future warranty expense for
products outstanding under warranty:
Year ended
December 31, 2002
(in theusands)

Balance at the beginning of theyear .. ......... .. ...... ... $ 220,000
Accruals for warranties issued during the year . . .............. 619,000
Accruals related to pre-existing warranties (including changes in

ESHIMALES) .« o v ottt et e e e —
Settlements made during the year (incashorinkind) .. ... .. ... (579,000)
Balance at the end of theyear . ......... ... .. iiuunnn. $ 260,000

Recent Pronouncements:

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”), No.141, “Business Combinations” and SFAS No.142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets”. Under SFAS No.141, all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001
must be accounted for using the purchase method. SFAS No.142 requires, among other things, the
discontinuance of goodwill amortization. In addition, the standard includes provisions upon adoption
for the reclassification of certain existing recognized intangibles as goodwill, reassessment of the useful
lives of existing recognized intangibles and the testing for impairment of existing goodwill and other
intangibles. The Company adopted SFAS No.142 effective January 1, 2002, see Note 6 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. |

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets”, which addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal
of long-lived assets. This Statement supersedes SFAS No. 121 and the accounting and reporting
provisions of Accounting Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of
Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual
and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions”, for the disposal of a segment of a business. The
provisions of SFAS No. 144 were adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2002.

In November 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on EITF Issue
No. 01-09, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer or a Reseller of the
Vendor’s Products.” EITF No. 01-09 requires recording certain consideration paid to distributors of the
Company’s products as a reduction of revenue. The provisions of EITF No. 01-09 were adopted by the
Company beginning January 1, 2002. The Company has incurred no change as a result of adopting
EITF No. 01-09.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Exit or Disposal Activities”.
SFAS 146 addresses significant issues regarding the recognition, measurement and reporting of costs
that are associated with exit and disposal activities, including restructuring activities that are currently
accounted for under EITF No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits
and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” The scope
of SFAS 146 also includes costs related to terminating a contract that is not a capital lease and
termination benefits that employees who are involuntarily terminated receive under the terms of a
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one-time benefit arrangement that is not an ongoing benefit arrangement or an individual deferred-
compensation contract. We are required to adopt the provisions of SFAS 146 effective for exit or
disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The provisions of EITF No. 94-3 shall continue to
apply for an exit activity initiated under an exit plan that met the criteria of EITF No. 94-3 prior to the
adoption of SFAS No. 146. The adoption of SFAS 146 will change on a prospective basis the timing of
when restructuring charges are recorded from a commitment date approach to when the liability is
incurred. Management does not expect the adoption of SFAS 146 to have a material impact on the
Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), “Guarantor’s
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others.” FIN 45 requires that a liability be recorded in the guarantor’s balance sheet
upon issuance of a guarantee. In addition, FIN 45 requires disclosures about the guarantees that an
entity has issued, including a reconciliation of changes in the entity’s product warranty liabilities. The
initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of FIN 45 are applicable on a prospective basis to
guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002, irrespective of the guarantor’s fiscal year-end.
The disclosure requirements of FIN 45 are effective for financial statements of interim or annual
periods ending after December 15, 2002. Management does not expect the adoption of FIN 45 to have
a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. The Company has
adopted the disclosure provisions of FIN 45 relating to product warranty for the year ended
December 31, 2002.

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITE”) reached a consensus on Issue
No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” EITF Issue No. 00-21 provides
guidance on how to account for arrangements that involve the delivery or performance of multiple
products, services and/or rights to use assets. The provisions of EITF Issue No. 00-21 will apply to
revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003. Management does
not expect the adoption of EITF Issue No. 00-21 to have a material impact on the Company’s financial
position or results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,
Transition and Disclosure” (“SFAS 148”). SFAS 148 provides alternative methods of transition for a
voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation.
SFAS 148 also requires that disclosures of the pro forma effect of using the fair value method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation be displayed more prominently and in a tabular
format. Additionally, SFAS 148 requires disclosure of the pro forma effect in interim financial
statements. The transition and annual disclosure requirements of SFAS 148 are effective for fiscal years
ended after December 15, 2002. The interim disclosure requirements are effective for interim periods
ending after December 15, 2002. The Company has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS 148
as of December 31, 2002.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51.” FIN 46 requires certain variable interest
entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity
do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk
for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties. FIN 46 is effective immediately for all new variable interest entities created or acquired after

41




FIBERSTARS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (Continued)

January 31, 2003. For variable interest entities created or acquired prior to February 1, 2003, the
provisions of FIN 46 must be applied for the first interim or annual period beginning after June 15,
2003. Management is still assessing the impact of FIN 46 on the Company’s financial position and
results of operations.

3. Invemtories (in thousands):

December 31,

2002 2001
Raw materials . . ... ... . $5,306 $3,788
Finished goods .. ... .. . 1,502 1,635

4, Fixed Assets (in thousands):

December 31,

2002 2001
Equipment (useful life 5 years) ................ccvue.... $ 3,259 § 3,666
Tooling (useful life 2-5Syears) .. ....... ... ... ... .. 1,515 1,791
Furniture and fixtures (useful life Syears) ................. 199 358
Computer software (useful life 3years) ................... 226 521
Leasehold improvements (the shorter of useful life or lease life) . 1,423 889

6,622 7,225
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . .......... (4,040)  (4,625)

$ 2,581 §$ 2,600

In the first fiscal quarter of 2002, the Company removed fixed assets no longer in service from its
balance sheet. This resulted in a decrease in gross fixed asset value of $1,544,000 and a corresponding
decrease in accumulated depreciation of $1,544,000.

5. Acquisitions:

On February 1, 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of selected assets of Unison Fiber
Optic Systems, LLC (“Unison”), a joint venture between Advanced Lighting Technologies, Inc.
(“ADLT”) and Rohm & Haas Company. ADLT is a 24% shareholder of Fiberstars, Inc. common stock.
The Company acquired key personnel, technology and fixed assets totaling $625,000 and, subject to
achievement of development milestones, up to $2 million in development funds from Unison. In
exchange for this, the Company issued warrants to ADLT for the purchase of up to 1 million shares of
the Company’s common stock at $0.01 per share. These warrants may not be exercised until the price
of the Company’s stock reaches certain trading levels on the Nasdaq National Market, as follows:
250,000 will be exercisable when the Company’s stock price reaches $6.00; 250,000 when the price
reaches $8.00; 250,000 when the price reaches $10.00; and 250,000 when the price reaches $12.00.
These prices must be maintained as an average over at least 30 days. In addition, certain sales
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5. Acquisitions: (Continued)

milestones must be reached on products of Unison technology before the warrants can be exercised. At
ADLT’s option, the warrants may be exchanged by ADLT, regardless of their exercisability, for up to
445,000 newly issued Fiberstars shares. These newly issuable shares were included in the calculation of
basic and diluted earnings per share for each of the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.
Additionally, the Company agreed to pay royalties on certain products over a 10 year period at rates
ranging from 3% to 1%. Also, as part of the acquisition agreement for Unison, the Company agreed to
provide $2,000,000 in development services to ADLT. The fees earned under this contract were
recognized as revenue in 1999 and 2000, with associated development costs included in cost of sales.
The Company valued the acquisition based on the value of the warrants. The acquisition was valued at
$2,550,000 of which $977,000 was identified as intangible assets, $10,000 for goodwill, $625,000 for fixed
assets acquired and $938,000 for in-process technology, which was written-off. The $938,000 allocated to
in-process technology acquired was for certain lamp and optics technology and certain fiber producing
technology the development of which had not yet reached a stage where it was certain that marketable
products would result. There is currently no alternative use for this technology as it was designed
specifically for the lighting industry. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the
amount allocated to in-process technology acquired, which was determined by an independent
valuation, was recorded as a charge to expense in the first quarter of 2000.

On April 18, 2000 the Company acquired Lightly Expressed, Ltd (“Lightly Expressed”) for 100,000
shares of Fiberstars common stock and warrants to purchase 100,000 additional shares, provided certain
operating profits are met in succeeding years. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase. The
Company valued the acquisition based on the value of stock and warrants issued. The value of the
acquisition was $947,000 of which $815,000 was for intangibles and $132,000 for net assets acquired.
The value of the acquisition attributable to the 100,000 newly issued shares was $775,000, based on the
per share price of the Company’s common stock. The value attributable to the 100,000 warrants issued
was $344,820, based on the Black Scholes model. The key assumptions used included an exercise price
of $6.00, a current share price of $7.75, and a volatility of 37% (based on historic share values).

At the time of the acquisition, the Company determined that a minimum of 50% of the warrants
would be exercisable and accordingly, recorded $172,410 on acquisition. The Company will record
additional goodwill for any warrants that become exercisable based on the difference between the fair

value on the date the contingency is met and the amount previously recorded. No warrants became
exercisable in 2001 or 2002.

The following table presents the unaudited pro forma results for the years ended December 31,
2000, assuming the Company had acquired Unison and Lightly Expressed at the beginning of 2000. Net
loss and diluted loss per share amounts have been adjusted to include goodwill amortization of
$197,000 for 2000. This information may not necessarily be indicative of the future combined results of
the Company.

Year Ended
December 31,
2000

(in thousands, except
per share amounts)

Revenues . . ... e $37,121
Netloss . ... (551)
Diluted losspershare . . ....... ... ... ... . . ... (0.12)
Basiclosspershare. ............ ... ... .. .. ... ... (0.12)

43




FIBERSTARS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

6. Goodwill and Intangibles—Adoption of SFAS 142

The Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142
(“SFAS 1427), “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” effective January 1, 2002. The following table
summarizes the impact of adopting SFAS 142 on the net loss and net loss per share for all periods
reported in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (in thousands, except per
share amounts):

2002 2001 2000

Reported netloss . . .. ... oo $(3,519) $(2,128) §(454)
Add back: goodwill amortization .. ................ — 220 243
Adjusted net 1oSs . .. ... $(3,519) $(1,908) $(211)
Basic and diluted loss per share:

Reported net loss per share . .................... $ (0.70) $ (0.45) $(0.10)
Goodwill amortization per share .. ................ — 0.05 0.05
Adjusted net loss pershare . . .................... $ (0.70) $ (0.40) $(0.05)

As part of adopting SFAS 142 the Company reclassified certain intangibles from goodwill to
intangibles. These amounts were based on an analysis of the asset value of the Unison acquisition
performed at the time of the Unison acquisition in January 2000. The after-tax add-back of goodwill
amortization for 2001 includes a gross amount of additional goodwill amortization of $280,000,
calculated at historical rates and partially offset by $60,000, due to a change in the life of certain
Unison intangibles from 10 years to 5 years effective January 2002.

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 142 the Company performed the transitional goodwill
impairment test prior to the end of the second quarter of 2002 and the first annual impairment test in
the fourth quarter of 2002. The tests showed no impairment of the Company’s goodwill asset. In
accordance with SFAS 142, goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test.

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill and intangibles for the year ended December 31,
2002 were as follows (in thousands):

Goodwill Intangibles

Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amertization Amount Amount Ameortization Amount

Balance as of January 1,2002 ............ $6,261  $(1,724) $4,537 $ — $ — $ —
Reclassification . . . ......... ... .. .. (770) 152 (618) 770 (152) 618
Amortization exXpense . . ................ — — — — (156) (156)
Exchangerate........................ 113

Balance as of December 31,2002.......... $5,491  $(1,572) $4,032 $770 $(308) § 462

Intangibles at December 31, 2002 include developed and core technology and patents with a gross
carrying amount of $399,000 and $371,000, respectively, and accumulated amortization of $160,000 and
$148,000, respectively.

The estimated annual amortization expense for intangibles is $157,000 for each of fiscal 2003 and
2004 and $50,000 for each of fiscal 2005, 2006 and 2007.
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7. Purchased In-process Research and Developmennt:

In February 2000, the Company purchased certain assets of Unison and accounted for the
acquisition as a purchase (see Note 5). In the first quarter of fiscal 2000, a total of $938,000 was
expensed as a write-off of in-process technology acquired. The total value of the acquisition was
approximately $2,550,000.

As of the acquisition date, the technological feasibility of the in-process technology had not been
established and the technology had no alternative future use. Therefore, the Company expensed the
in-process research and development in the first quarter of 2000. The remaining intangible assets are
being amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the assets, ranging from
3 to 7 years.

The value assigned to this acquired in-process research and development was determined by
identifying research projects in areas for which technological feasibility had not been established as of
the acquisition date. These projects include the Compound Parabolic Collector (“CPC”) project and
the extruded large core fiber project. The value was determined by estimating the revenue contribution
and the percentage of completion of each of these projects. The projects were deemed to be 56%
complete on the date of acquisition based on a leveraging of core technology. The net cash flows were
then discounted utilizing a weighted average cost of capital of 35%, which, among other related
assumptions, the Company believes to be reasonable. This discount rate takes into consideration the
inherent uncertainties surrounding the successful development of the in-process research and
development, the expected profitability levels of such technology, and the uncertainty of technological
advances that could potentially impact the estimates described above.

To date, actual results have been materially consistent with the Company’s assumptions at the time
of the acquisition. The assumptions primarily consist of a projected completion date for the products to
be derived from the in-process technology acquired, the estimated cost required to bring them to
completion and the pre-tax profit projected to be derived from these products. The initial illuminators
using the CPC technology shipped in the fourth quarter of 2001. While this was later than planned, at
the time of the acquisition the profit projected to be achieved from these products was not forecast to
be material in fiscal 2000 or 2001. Initial products based on extruded solid core fiber are still under
development and are not expected to begin shipping until the end of 2003, as projected in the
development plan at the time of the acquisition. Failure to achieve the expected levels of revenue and
net income from these products during the complete life cycle will have a negative impact on the
return on investment expected at the time that the acquisition was finalized. This could also cause a
reduction in value of other assets related to these development activities.
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8. Accruals and Other Current Liabilities (in thousands):

December 31,

2002 2001
Sales commissions and incentives . ... .. ... ... $ 661 $1,003
Accrued warranty €Xpense . .. ... ... 260 220
Accrued legal and accounting fees . .................. ... 169 112
Accrued employee benefits . .. ........ .. ... 285 314
Accrued TENE . . ..o 189 155
Note payable—related party . ....... ... ... .. ... . 120 —
Others . ... 433 284

9. Bank Borrewings:
The Company has entered into the following borrowing arrangements with its banks:

a) A $5,000,000 Loan and Security Agreement (Accounts Receivable and Inventory) dated as of
December 7, 2001, bearing interest equal to prime plus 0.25% per annum computed daily or a
fixed rate term option of LIBOR plus 3%. Borrowings under this line are collateralized by the
Company’s assets and intellectual property. Specific borrowings are tied to accounts receivable
and inventory balances, and the Company must maintain certain covenants with respect to
effective net worth, quick ratio and debt to equity ratio for the U.S. and consolidated entities.
The agreement is cancellable upon 30 days notice by either party. The Company was in
conformity with its net worth and financial ratios as of December 31, 2002. There were
borrowings of $416,000 against this facility at December 31, 2002 and no borrowings as of
December 31, 2001.

b) A $403,000 (in UK pounds sterling, based on the exchange rate at December 31, 2002) bank
overdraft agreement with Lloyds Bank Plc. There were no borrowings against this facility at
December 31, 2002 and 2001.

c) A $616,000 (in German Deutsche Marks, based on the exchange rate at December 31, 2002)
bank borrowing facility in Germany with Sparkasse Neumarkt Bank for the German office
facility. There was $484,000 and $419,000 in borrowings against this facility as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively as amended. Under the terms of this borrowing,
$35,000 is due in 2003 and $449,000 is due in 2008. In addition, there is a revolving line of
credit of $214,000 (in Euros based on the exchange rate as of December 31, 2002) with
Sparkasse Neumarkt Bank. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, there was $142,000 and
$101,000 respectively in borrowings against this facility.
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10. Commitments and Contingencies:

The Company occupies manufacturing and office facilities under non-cancelable operating leases
expiring in 2006 under which it is responsible for related maintenance, taxes and insurance. Minimum
lease commitments under the leases are as follows (in thousands):

Minimum lease

Year ending December 31, commitments
2003 . $ 855
N 881
2005 L e 917
2006 . . 717
Total minimum lease payments . .. ........... ... . ...... ... .. $3,370

These leases included certain escalation clauses and thus rent expense was recorded on a
straight-line basis. Rent expense approximated $926,000, $1,014,000 and $979,000, for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

At December 31, 2002, a letter of credit in the amount of $350,000 was held by the Company on
behalf of Sparkasse Neumarkt Bank. The letter of credit would be drawn against the Company’s line of
credit facility with Comerica Bank in the event of a default by the Company’s German subsidiary,
LBM, on its outstanding loan with Sparkasse Neumarkt Bank (See Note 9).

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings.

11. Shareholders’ Equity:
Common Stock:

The notes receivable from shareholders for common stock bear interest at a rate of 9% and are
payable ten years from the date of issuance. The Company does not recognize interest on these notes
receivable until it is received.

Under the terms of certain agreements with the Company, the holders of approximately 1,818,000
shares of common stock have certain demand and piggyback registration rights. All registration
expenses generally would be borne by the Company.

Warrants:

As part of the acquisition of Unison, the Company provided ADLT with warrants to purchase one
million shares of the Company’s common stock exercisable at one penny per share. These warrants may
not be exercised until the price of the Company’s common stock reaches certain trading levels on the
Nasdaq National Market, as follows: 250,000 will be exercisable when the price of the Company’s
common stock reaches $6.00; 250,000 when the price of the Company’s common stock reaches $8.00;
250,000 when the price of the Company’s common stock reaches $10.00; and 250,000 when the price of
the Company’s common stock reaches $12.00. These prices must be maintained as an average over at
least 30 days. In addition, certain sales milestones must be reached on products developed from Unison
technology before the warrants can be exercised. At ADLT’s option, the warrants may be exchanged by
ADILT, regardless of their exercisability, for up to 445,000 newly issued shares of common stock. The
warrants expire in January 2010.
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11. Sharehoiders’ Equity: (Continued)

As part of the acquisition of Lightly Expressed, the Company granted the Lightly Expressed
shareholders warrants to purchase 100,000 shares which may be exercised in three years if certain
operating profits from sales of the products acquired are met. No warrants were exercisable as of
December 31, 2002.

In a private placement in March 2002, the Company sold 328,633 shares of common stock for
$972,000, net of fees and expenses of $28,000. In addition, each purchaser was issued a warrant to
purchase a number of shares of the Company’s common stock equal to 20% of the number of shares of
common stock purchased by such purchaser in the offering. The purchase price of the common stock
was $3.00 per share, which was based on a 8.8% discount on the 10 day average price as of March 14,
2002. The purchase price of the common stock for insiders who participated in the offering was $3.35,
which was the higher of (1) the price on the closing date or (2) the 10 day average price as of
March 14, 2002, plus a $.03 premium because of the issuances of the warrants. The warrants have an
initial exercise price of $4.30 per share, with a life of 5 years.

Warrant activity comprised:

Warrants

Outstanding Warrants

Shares Exercise Price Exercisable Amount
(in thousands)

Balance, December 31, 1999 . .. ... ... — —
Warrants granted. . .. .............. 1,100,000 $2.00 - $6.00 — $3,000
Balance, December 31, 2000 ......... 1,100,000 $2.00 - $6.00 — $3,000
Warrants granted. . ... ........ ... .. —  $2.00 - $6.00 — $ —
Balance, December 31, 2001 ......... 1,100,000  $2.00 - $6.00 — $3,000
Warrants granted . . . ............... 65,726 $ 4.30 65,726 $ 283
Balance, December 31, 2002 .. ....... 1,165,726  $2.00 - $6.00 653,726 $3,283

|

1988 Stock Option Plam:

Upon adoption of the 1994 Stock Option Plan (see below), the Company’s Board of Directors
determined to make no further grants under the 1988 Stock Option Plan (the 1988 Plan). Upon
cancellation or expiration of any options granted under the 1988 Plan, the related reserved shares of
common stock will become available instead for options granted under the 1994 Stock Option Plan.

1994 Directors’ Stock Option Plan:

At December 31, 2002, a total of 400,000 shares of common stock had been reserved for issuance
under the 1994 Directors’ Stock Option Plan. The plan provides for the granting of nonstatutory stock
options to nonemployee directors of the Company.
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11. Shareholders’ Equity: (Continued)
1994 Stock Option Plan:

At December 31, 2002, an aggregate of 1,550,000 shares of the Company’s common stock had been
reserved for issuance under the 1994 Stock Option Plan to employees, officers, and consultants at
prices not lower than the fair market value of the common stock of the Company on the date of grant
in the case of incentive stock options, and not lower than 85% of the fair market value on the date of
grant in the case of non-statutory stock options. Options granted may be ecither incentive stock options
or nonstatutory stock options. The plan administrator (the Board of Directors or a committee of the
Board) determines the terms of options granted under the plan including the number of shares subject
to the option, exercise price, term and exercisability.

Activity Under the Stock Option Plans:

Option activity under all plans comprised:

Options Weighted
Available Number of Shares  Average Exercise
For Grant QOutstanding Price Per Share
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Balance, December 31,1999 . .. ................. 48 1,693
Additional shares reserved . . . ................. 200
Granted .. ... (304) 304 $5.69
Cancelled . . ... i 149 (149) $5.07
Exercised .. .ot — (180) $4.36
Balance, December 31,2000 . ................... 93 1,668 $4.74
Granted . ... ... (85) 85 $3.83
Cancelled . ... ... . 195 (195) $4.85
Exercised . ... ... ... i — (28) $2.93
Balance, December 31,2001 . ................... 203 1,530 $4.74
Granted . . ... .. .. (418) 418 $4.41
Cancelled ... ... . i 516 (516) $5.00
Exercised .. ... ... ... . . . ... — — —
Balance, December 31,2002 .. ... ... .. .. .. ..... 301 1,432 $4.57
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11. Shareholders’ Equity: (Continued)

At December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, options to purchase 1,000,102 shares, 1,147,007 shares and
1,131,892 shares of common stock, respectively, were exercisable at weighted average fair values of
$4.54, $4.67 and $4.52, respectively.

OPTIONS QUTSTANDING OPTIONS CURRENTLY
Weighted EXERCISABLE
Average Weighted
Number of Remaining Weighted Average
Range of Shares Centractual Average Exercise
Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Exercise Price  Number Exercisable Price
(in thousands) (in years) (in thousands)
$3.38 - $3.94 559 4.1 $3.66 205 $3.57
$4.00 - $4.88 536 2.3 $4.50 360 $4.51
$5.13 - $5.88 151 9.0 $5.50 312 $5.46
$6.25 - $7.13 186 34 $6.77 89 $6.83

1,432 1,003

1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plam:

At December 31, 2002, a total of 100,000 shares of common stock had been reserved for issuance
under the 1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The plan permits eligible employees to purchase
common stock through payroll deductions at a price equal to the lower of 85% of the fair market value
of the Company’s common stock at the beginning or end of the offering period. Employees may end
their participation at any time during the offering period, and participation ends automatically on
termination of employment with the Company. At December 31, 2002, 74,769 shares had been issued
under this plan.

Sharehelder Rights Plan

On September 12, 2001, the Board of Directors of Fiberstars, Inc. declared a dividend distribution
of one “Right” for each outstanding share of common stock of the Company to shareholders of record
at the close of business on September 26, 2001. One Right will also attach to each share of common
stock issued by the Company subsequent to such date and prior to the distribution date defined below.
With certain exceptions, each Right, when exercisable, entitles the registered holder to purchase from
the Company one one-thousandth of a share of a new series of preferred stock, designated as Series A
Participating Preferred Stock, at a price of $30.00 per one one-thousandth of a share, subject to
adjustment. The Rights were distributed as a non-taxable dividend and expire ten years from the date
of the Rights Plan. In general, the Rights will become exercisable and trade independently from the
common stock on a distribution date that will occur on the earlier of (i) the public announcement of
the acquisition by a person or group of 15% or more of the common stock or (ii) ten days after
commencement of a tender or exchange offer for the common stock that would result in the acquisition
of 15% or more of the common stock. Upon the occurrence of certain other events related to changes
in ownership of the common stock, each holder of a Right would be entitled to purchase shares of
common stock, or an acquiring corporation’s common stock, having a market value of twice the
exercise price. Under certain conditions, the Rights may be redeemed at $0.001 per Right by the Board
of Directors. The description and terms of the Rights are set forth in a Rights Agreement dated as of
September 20, 2001 between the Company and Mellon Investor Services LLC, as rights agent.
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12. Income Taxes:

The components of the benefit from (provision for) income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Current:
Federal ........... .. it $ — § 551 3(399)
Foreign . ... ... . . . . (43) (105) (25)
SEALE . v oot — 1) (69)
(43) 445  (493)
Deferred:
Federal ........ .. .. .. . . .. (1,605) 910 646
State . ... (430) (102) 104
(2,035) 808 750
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes ............ $(2,078) $1,253 § 257

The following table shows the geographic components of pretax income (loss) between U.S. and
foreign subsidiaries:

December 31,

2002 2001 2000
U S $(2,021) $(3,568) $(757)
Foreign subsidiaries . . . .............. .. ... ...... 580 187 46

$(1,441) $(3381) $(711)

The principal items accounting for the difference between income taxes computed at the United
States statutory rate and the benefit from (provision for) income taxes reflected in the statements of
operations are as follows:

December 31,

TR )
United States statutory rate .. ..............cuon..... 34.0% 34.0% 34.0%
State Taxes (net of federal tax benefit) . ............... 55% 55% 5.5%
Valuation allowance . .. ......... ... (181.1)% — —
Other . ... . 27N% 24)% (3.4)%

(144.2)% 37.1% 36.1%
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FEIBERSTARS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

12. Income Taxes: (Continued)

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax
asset are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2002 2001
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ........................ $ 149 § 148
Accrued expenses and other reserves . .. ................... 939 709
Tax credits . . ... e 235 509
Netoperating loss . ... ... e 836 755
Other ... — 256
Total deferred tax asset . . . .. oot r it 2,209 2,377
Valuation alfowance .. ........ ... ... . . o L. (2,209) —
Net deferred tax asset. . .. ....... ... . $ — $2377

The deferred tax asset has been fully reserved by management in accordance with FASB 109 since
management cannot forecast when the tax loss carryforwards will be realized.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company has net operating loss carryforward of approximately
$2.2 million and $1.6 million for federal and state income tax purposes, respectively. If not utilized,
these carryforwards will begin to expire in 2020 for federal and 2008 for state purposes.

Under the Internal Revenue Code Section 382, the amounts of and benefits from net operating
losses carryforwards may be impaired in certain circumstances. Events which cause limitations in the
amount of net operating losses that the Company may utilize in any one year include, but are not
limited to, a cumulative ownership change of more than 50%, as defined, over a three year period.

13. Segments and Geographic Information:

The Company has two primary product lines: the pool and spa lighting product line and the
commercial lighting product line, each of which markets and sells fiber optic lighting products. The
Company markets its products for worldwide distribution primarily through independent sales
representatives, distributors and swimming pool builders in North America, Europe and the Far East.

A summary of geographic sales is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
US. Domestic . . . oo ot i e $22,978 $21,298 $26,533
Other Countries . ......... .t en.. 7,982 7,755 10,388

$30,960 $29,053  $36,921
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FIBERSTARS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

13. Segments and Geographic Information: (Continued)

A summary of geographic long-lived assets (fixed assets and goodwill) is as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2002 2001
US. DOmESIC . . . ot e $5,501 $5,791
GeImany . .. .ot 1,418 1,208
Other COUNIIES . . . v vttt e e e e e 156 138

$7,075 $7,137
A summary of sales by product line is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Pool and Spa Lighting . ... .................... $17,925 $14,294 $18,987
Commercial Lighting ... ...................... 13,035 14,759 16,235
Other . ... .. e — — 1,699

$30,960 $29,053 $36,921

14. Employee Retirement Plan:

The Company maintains a 401(k) profit sharing plan for its employees who meet certain
qualifications. The Plan allows eligible employees to defer up to 15% of their earnings, not to exceed
the statutory amount per year on a pretax basis through contributions to the Plan. The Plan provides
for employer contributions at the discretion of the Board of Directors; however, no such contributions
were made in 2002, 2001 or 2000.

15. Related Party Transactions:

In previous years, the Company advanced amounts to certain officers by way of promissory notes.
The notes are collateralized by certain issued or potentially issuable shares of the Company’s common
stock. The notes bear interest at rates ranging from 6% to 8% per annum and are repayable at various
dates through 2004. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, $62,000 and $88,000 was outstanding under the
notes, respectively. At December 31, 2002, $34,000 was included in other assets and $28,000 was
included in notes receivable and other assets, at December 31, 2001, $36,000 was included in other
assets and $52,000 was included in notes and other receivables.

ADLT is a holder of 24% of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock. In January 2000, the
Company executed the Mutual Supply Agreement with ADLT under which the Company buys certain
lamps and components for its illuminators and through which the Company sells its finished products
to ADLT. The terms of this agreement provide for specified pricing on products purchased from and
sold to ADLT. The Company has purchased, and continues to purchase, components from ADLT under
the terms of this agreement. Also, in January 2000, the Company entered into a Development
Agreement with Unison, a wholly owned subsidiary of ADLT, under which the Company provided
development services for which it received $2 million in fees from October 1999 through January 2001.
In exchange, the Company will pay royalties on the sales of products these technologies produce at a
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FIBERSTARS, INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

15. Related Party Transactions: (Continued)

rate of 3% for five years, 2% for the next two years and 1% for the next three years, after which the
Company assumes exclusive royalty-free rights.

The Company had sales to ADLT under terms of the Mutual Supply Agreement and prior supply
agreements of $345,000 during 2002 and $484,000 during 2001. Purchases were made from ADLT
under these agreements with the Company along with royalties paid amounted to $1,207,000 in 2002
and $904,000 in 2001, Under the terms of the Development Agreement and a prior professional
services agreement the Company received revenue from ADLT of $1,700,000 in 2000. There was no
revenue received under this agreement in 2001. Accounts receivable from ADLT were $79,000 and
$143,000 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Accounts payable due to ADLT were $105,000
and $212,000 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

16. Subsequent Evemnt:

In February 2003, the Company was awarded an R&D contract with the United States Department
of Defense. The Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (“DARPA”) contract calls for payments
of $6,818,000 to the Company over three years based on achievement of various R&D milestones.
Upon achievement of these milestones, $2,115,000, $2,599,000 and $2,104,000 will be paid to the
Company during the calendar years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 respectively. The
milestones are for work to be performed in developing fiber optic illuminators and fixtures for
installation on ships and planes. Funds for the first year have budget approval and funds for subsequent
years will be released upon budget approval for those years.
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Item 15 (continued)
(a) (continued)
(2) Financial Statement Schedules

The following Financial Statement Schedule of Fiberstars, Inc. is filed as part of this
Form 10-K included in Item 15(d) below:

Schedule [I—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.

All other schedules are omitted either because they are not applicable or the required
information is shown in the financial statements or the notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits
See Item 15 (c) below.

Fach management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed has
been identified.

(b) Reports on Form §-K.

The Company filed a current report on Form 8-K on October 25, 2002 reporting under
Item 5 the election of Mr. David M. Traversi to the board of directors.

(c) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description of Documents

3(i).1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2001).

3(i}.2 Certificate of Determination of Series A Participating Preferred Stock of the Registrant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(i) to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended September 30, 2001).

3(ii) Bylaws of the Registrant, as amended (composite copy) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001).

4.1 Form of warrant issued to the Underwriters in the Company’s initial public offering
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form SB-2 (Commission File No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on August 17, 1994).

4.2 Rights Agreement dated as of September 20, 2001 between the Registrant and Mellon
Investor Services (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-A filed
with the SEC on September 21, 2001).

43 Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement dated as of March 26, 2002, between Fiberstars, Inc.
and Mellon Investor Services, LLC as rights agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
the Registrant’s Amendment No. 1 to Form 8-A filed with the SEC on April 17, 2002).

4.4 Form of Warrant for the purchase of shares of Common Stock (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2002).
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Exhibit
Number

Description of Documents

10.17

10.2¢

10.3t

10.4%

10.57

10.6

10.7

10.8F

10.97

10.10

10.11

10.12¢

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and officers of the Registrant (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2
{(Commission File No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on August 17, 1994).

1988 Stock Option Plan, as amended, and forms of stock option agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2
(Commission File No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on August 17, 1994).

1994 Stock Option Plan, amended as of May 24, 2000, (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Commission File
No. 333-52042) filed with the SEC on December 18, 2000).

1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, amended as of December 7, 2000, (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Commission
File No. 333-52042) filed with the SEC on December 18, 2000).

1994 Directors’ Stock Option Plan, amended as of May 23, 2001, (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Commission File
No. 333-68844) filed with the SEC on August 31, 2001).

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 27, 1990, between the Registrant and certain
holders of the Registrant’s capital stock, as amended by Amendment No. 1 dated as of
February 6, 1991 and Amendment No. 2 dated as of April 30, 1994 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (Commission File
No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on August 17, 1994).

Amendment No. 3 to Registration Rights Agreement to include Warrant shares as
Registerable Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.2 to the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (Commission File No. 33-79116-LA) which became
effective on August 17, 1994).

Stock Purchase Agreement and related Promissory Note between David N. Ruckert and the
Registrant dated as of December 9, 1987, as amended (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (Commission File
No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on August 17, 1994).

Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated as of June 27, 1988 issued by the Registrant to Philip
Wolfson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement
on Form SB-2 (Commission File No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on August 17,
1994).

Lease Agreement dated December 20, 1993 between the Registrant and Bayside Spinnaker
Partners IV (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form SB-2 (Commission File No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on
August 17, 1994).

Form of Agreement between the Registrant and independent sales representatives
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form SB-2 (Commission File No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on August 17, 1994).

Consulting Agreement dated August 25, 1994, between the Registrant and Philip Wolfson,
M.D. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 1994).
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Exhibit
Number

Description of Documents

10.13*

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18*

10.19

10.20*

10.21*

10.22

10.23

Distribution Agreement dated March 21, 1995, between the Registrant and Mitsubishi
International Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 1994).

Stock Purchase Agreement dated March 21, 1995, among the Registrant, Mitsubishi

International Corporation and Mitsubishi Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the year ended
December 31, 1994).

Promissory Note dated as of October 7, 1996, issued in favor of the Registrant by Steve
Keplinger (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 1996).

Promissory Note dated as of March 25, 1997, issued in favor of the Registrant by Barry
Greenwald (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 1996).

Promissory Note dated as of March 15, 1998, issued in favor of the Registrant by Barry
Greenwald (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 1997).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated August 31, 1998, by and among Fibre Optics International,
Inc., Douglas S. Carver, Dave M. Carver, and the Registrant (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.32 to the Registrant’s Amended Annual Report on Form 10-KSB/A for the year
ended December 31, 1998).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of November 19, 1998, by and among the Registrant,
Hillgate (4) Limited, Crescent Lighting Limited, Michael Beverly Morrison and Corinne
Bertrand (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 4, 1998).

Purchase and Take-over Agreement between Frau Claudia Mann, acting for LBM Lichtleit-
Fasertechnik and Fiberstars Deutschland GmbH, represented by its Managing Director Herr
Bernhard Mann (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the Registrant’s Amended
Annual Report on Form 10-KSB/A for the year ended December 31, 1998).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of December 30, 1998, between Respironics, Inc. and the
Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Registrant’s Amended Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB/A for the year ended December 31, 1998).

Multi-tenant Industrial Triple Net Lease last executed December 1, 1998, between the
Registrant and Catellus Development Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36
to the Registrant’s Amended Annual Report on Form 10-KSB/A for the year ended
December 31, 1998).

Multi-tenant Industrial Lease Agreement (Modified Gross) dated September 15, 1998 between
the Registrant and Harsch Investment Corp., as Agent for MacArthur/Broadway Center, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrant’s Amended Annual Report on
Form 10-KSB/A for the year ended December 31, 1998), as amended by First Amendment to
Lease dated December 13, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the
Registrant’s Amended Annual Report on Form 10-K 405/A for the vear ended December 31,
1999).
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Exhibit
Number

Description of Documents

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30*

10.31

10.32*

10.33

10.34

10.35

Amended and Restated Promissory Note dated March 25, 1999, between the Registrant and
J. Steven Keplinger (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Registrant’s Amended
Annual Report on Form 10-KSB/A for the year ended December 31, 1998).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of January 14, 2001 among Fiberstars, Inc. and Unison
Fiber Optic Lighting Systems, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 7.0 to Advanced
Lighting Technologies, Inc.’s Amendment No. 3 to Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on
March 9, 2001).

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated April 18, 2000 between Fiberstars, Inc. and
Lightly Expressed, Ltd. (VA), Lightly Expressed, Ltd. (CA), William Leaman and Michael
Weber (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000).

Loan Agreement dated September 1, 2000, between the Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000).

Term Commitment Note of the Registrant dated as of September 1, 2000, to Wells Fargo
Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000).

Revolving Line of Credit Note of the Registrant dated as of September 1, 2000, to Wells
Fargo Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000).

Three (3) Year Supply Agreement dated November 30, 2000 between the Registrant and
Mitsubishi International Corporation (incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same
number to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001).

Restated Investor Agreement dated January 31, 2000, between the Registrant, Advanced
Lighting Technologies, Inc., and Unison Fiber Optic Lighting Systems, LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 7(d) to Advanced Lighting Technologies, Inc.’s Amendment No. 3 to
Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on March 9, 2000).

Exclusive Marketing and Distribution Agreement between the Registrant and Laars, Inc.
effective July 31, 2000 (incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same number to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001).

Extension—Loan Agreement between the Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association dated March 23, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001).

Extension—Revolving Line of Credit Note by the Registrant dated as of March 23, 2001, to
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001).

Continuing Security Agreement, Rights to Payment and Inventory by the Registrant dated as
of March 23, 2001, to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

March 31, 2001).
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Description of Documents

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

21.1

23.1
99.1

99.2

Extension—Revolving Line of Credit Note of the Registrant dated as of August 10, 2001, to
Wells Fargo Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001).

Consulting Agreement effective as of October 18, 2001 between the Company and John B.
Stuppin (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-X for the year ended December 31, 2001).

Loan and Security Agreement (Accounts and Inventory) as dated December 7, 2001, between
Comerica Bank-California, a California banking corporation and the Company (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2001).

Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated March 21, 2002, by and among the
Registrant and the investors named herein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002).

Significant subsidiaries of Fiberstars, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same
number to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001).

Consent of Independent Accountants.

Statement of Chief Executive Cfficer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(18 U.S.C. §1350).

Statement of Chief Financial Officer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18
U.S.C. §1350).

*

Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this agreement.

+  Indicates management contracts or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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(d) Financial Statement Schedules

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS ON FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

To the Board of Directors of Fiberstars, Inc.
Fremont, California

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated February 14,
2003, except for Note 16, for which the date is March 17, 2003, appearing in Item 15(a)l of this
Form 10-K also included an audit of the financial statement schedule listed in Item 15(a)(2) of this
Form 10-K. In our opinion, this financial statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the
information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial
statements.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 14, 2003
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SCHEDULE II

FIBERSTARS, INC.
SCHEDULE OF VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at
Beginning of Charges Charges Balance at
Description Year To Revenue To Expenses Deductions End of Year
(Amounts in thousands)
Year Ended December 31, 2002
Allowance for doubtful accounts and
034009 1 - T $ 585 $ — $ 78 $ 39 $ 604
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets — — 2,035 — 2,035

Year Ended December 31, 2001
Allowance for doubtful accounts and
TELUITIS © v v v v et e e e e e i s $1,526 $740 $ 274 $1,955 $ 585
Year Ended December 31, 2000
Allowance for doubtful accounts and
(514105 ¢ - J 598 656 936 664 1,526
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Company has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereto duly
authorized, on the 26'™ day of March, 2003.

FIBERSTARS, INC.

By: /s/ DAVID N. RUCKERT

David N. Ruckert
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

In accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed by the
following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ DAVID N. RUCKERT Chief Executive Officer and Director March 26, 2003
David N. Ruckert (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ ROBERT A. CONNORS Chxef.Fmancw.tl Off-ICCI' March 26, 2003
(Principal Financial and
Robert A. Connors Accounting Officer)
/s/ JOHN B. STUPPIN Director March 26, 2003
John B. Stuppin
/s/ THEODORE L. ELIOT, JR. Director March 26, 2003
Theodore L. Eliot, Jr.
/s/ MICHAEL FEUER, PH.D. Director March 26, 2003
Michael Feuer, Ph.D.
/s/ B.J. GARET Director March 26, 2003
B.J. Garet
/s/ WAYNE R. HELLMAN Director March 26, 2003
Wayne R. Hellman
/s/ DAVID TRAVERSI Director March 26, 2003
David Traversi
/s/ PHILIP WOLFSON Director March 26, 2003

Philip Wolfson
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CERTIFICATIONS
I, David N. Ruckert, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-X of Fiberstars, Inc,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

¢) presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified
for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or
not there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions
with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 26, 2003 /s/ DAVID N. RUCKERT

David N. Ruckert
Chief Executive Officer
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I, Robert A. Connors, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Fiberstars, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

¢) presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified
for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and |

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or
not there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions
with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 26, 2003 /s/ ROBERT A. CONNORS

Robert A. Connors
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit
Number

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description of Documents

3(i).1

3(i).2

3(ii)

4.1

42

4.3

4.4

10.1%

10.27

10.37

10.47

10.5%

10.6

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2001).

Certificate of Determination of Series A Participating Preferred Stock of the Registrant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(i) to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended September 30, 2001).

Bylaws of the Registrant, as amended (composite copy) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001).

Form of warrant issued to the Underwriters in the Company’s initial public offering
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form SB-2 (Commission File No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on August 17, 1994).

Rights Agreement dated as of September 20, 2001 between the Registrant and Mellon
Investor Services (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-A filed
with the SEC on September 21, 2001).

Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement dated as of March 26, 2002, between Fiberstars, Inc.
and Mellon Investor Services, LLC as rights agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
the Registrant’s Amendment No. 1 to Form §8-A filed with the SEC on April 17, 2002).

Form of Warrant for the purchase of shares of Common Stock (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2002).

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and officers of the Registrant (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2
(Commission File No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on August 17, 1994).

1988 Stock Option Plan, as amended, and forms of stock option agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2
(Commission File No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on August 17, 1994).

1994 Stock Option Plan, amended as of May 24, 2000, (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Commission File
No. 333-52042) filed with the SEC on December 18, 2000).

1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, amended as of December 7, 2000, (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Commission
File No. 333-52042) filed with the SEC on December 18, 2000).

1994 Directors’ Stock Option Plan, amended as of May 23, 2001, (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Commission File
No. 333-68844) filed with the SEC on August 31, 2001).

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 27, 1990, between the Registrant and certain
holders of the Registrant’s capital stock, as amended by Amendment No. 1 dated as of
February 6, 1991 and Amendment No. 2 dated as of April 30, 1994 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (Commission File
No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on August 17, 1994).
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10.7 Amendment No. 3 to Registration Rights Agreement to include Warrant shares as
Registerable Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.2 to the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (Commission File No. 33-79116-LA) which became
effective on August 17, 1994).

10.8%  Stock Purchase Agreement and related Promissory Note between David N. Ruckert and the
Registrant dated as of December 9, 1987, as amended (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (Commission File
No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on August 17, 1994).

10.9f Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated as of June 27, 1988 issued by the Registrant to Philip
Wolfson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement
on Form SB-2 (Commission File No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on August 17,
1994).

10.10 Lease Agreement dated December 20, 1993 between the Registrant and Bayside Spinnaker
Partners IV (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form SB-2 (Commission File No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on
August 17, 1994).

10.11 Form of Agreement between the Registrant and independent sales representatives
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form SB-2 (Commission File No. 33-79116-LA) which became effective on August 17, 1994).

10.12%  Consulting Agreement dated August 25, 1994, between the Registrant and Philip Wolfson,
M.D. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 1994).

10.13*  Distribution Agreement dated March 21, 1995, between the Registrant and Mitsubishi
International Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 1994).

10.14  Stock Purchase Agreement dated March 21, 1995, among the Registrant, Mitsubishi
International Corporation and Mitsubishi Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the year ended
December 31, 1994).

10.15 Promissory Note dated as of October 7, 1996, issued in favor of the Registrant by Steve
Keplinger (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 1996).

10.16  Promissory Note dated as of March 25, 1997, issued in favor of the Registrant by Barry
Greenwald (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 1996).

10.17 Promissory Note dated as of March 15, 1998, issued in favor of the Registrant by Barry
Greenwald (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 1997).

10.18*  Asset Purchase Agreement dated August 31, 1998, by and among Fibre Optics International,
Inc., Douglas S. Carver, Dave M. Carver, and the Registrant (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.32 to the Registrant’s Amended Annual Report on Form 10-KSB/A for the year
ended December 31, 1998).
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10.19

10.20*

10.21%*

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of November 19, 1998, by and among the Registrant,
Hillgate (4) Limited, Crescent Lighting Limited, Michael Beverly Morrison and Corinne
Bertrand (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 4, 1998).

Purchase and Take-over Agreement between Frau Claudia Mann, acting for LBM Lichtleit-
Fasertechnik and Fiberstars Deutschland GmbH, represented by its Managing Director Herr
Bernhard Mann (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the Registrant’s Amended
Annual Report on Form 10-KSB/A for the year ended December 31, 1998).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of December 30, 1998, between Respironics, Inc. and the
Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Registrant’s Amended Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB/A for the year ended December 31, 1998).

Multi-tenant Industrial Triple Net Lease last executed December 1, 1998, between the
Registrant and Catellus Development Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36
to the Registrant’s Amended Annual Report on Form 10-KSB/A for the year ended
December 31, 1998).

Multi-tenant Industrial Lease Agreement (Modified Gross) dated September 15, 1998 between
the Registrant and Harsch Investment Corp., as Agent for MacArthur/Broadway Center, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrant’s Amended Annual Report on
Form 10-KSB/A for the year ended December 31, 1998), as amended by First Amendment to
Lease dated December 13, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the
Registrant’s Amended Annual Report on Form 10-K 405/A for the year ended December 31,
1999).

Amended and Restated Promissory Note dated March 25, 1999, between the Registrant and
J. Steven Keplinger (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Registrant’s Amended
Annual Report on Form 10-KSB/A for the year ended December 31, 1998).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of January 14, 2001 among Fiberstars, Inc. and Unison
Fiber Optic Lighting Systems, LL.C (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 7.0 to Advanced
Lighting Technologies, Inc.’s Amendment No. 3 to Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on
March 9, 2001).

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated April 18, 2000 between Fiberstars, Inc. and
Lightly Expressed, Ltd. (VA), Lightly Expressed, Ltd. (CA), William Leaman and Michael
Weber (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000).

Loan Agreement dated September 1, 2000, between the Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000).

Term Commitment Note of the Registrant dated as of September 1, 2000, to Wells Fargo
Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000).

Revolving Line of Credit Note of the Registrant dated as of September 1, 2000, to Wells
Fargo Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000).
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10.30*

10.31

10.32*

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

21.1

Three (3) Year Supply Agreement dated November 30, 2000 between the Registrant and
Mitsubishi International Corporation (incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same
number to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001).

Restated Investor Agreement dated January 31, 2000, between the Registrant, Advanced
Lighting Technologies, Inc., and Unison Fiber Optic Lighting Systems, LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 7(d) to Advanced Lighting Technologies, Inc.’s Amendment No. 3 to
Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on March 9, 2000).

Exclusive Marketing and Distribution Agreement between the Registrant and Laars, Inc.
effective July 31, 2000 (incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same number to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001).

Extension—Loan Agreement between the Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association dated March 23, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001).

Extension—Revolving Line of Credit Note by the Registrant dated as of March 23, 2001, to
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001).

Continuing Security Agreement, Rights to Payment and Inventory by the Registrant dated as
of March 23, 2001, to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2001).

Extension—Revolving Line of Credit Note of the Registrant dated as of August 10, 2001, to
Wells Fargo Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001).

Consulting Agreement effective as of Cctober 18, 2001 between the Company and John B.
Stuppin (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001).

Loan and Security Agreement (Accounts and Inventory) as dated December 7, 2001, between
Comerica Bank-California, a California banking corporation and the Company (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2001).

Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated March 21, 2002, by and among the
Registrant and the investors named herein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002).

Significant subsidiaries of Fiberstars, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same
number to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001).
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23.1 Consent of Independent Accountants.

99.1 Statement of Chief Executive Officer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(18 U.S.C. §1350).

99.2 Statement of Chief Financial Officer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18
U.S.C. §1350).

*  Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this agreement.

1 Indicates management contracts or compensatory plan or arrangement.



EXHIBET 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8
(File No. 0-24230) of Fiberstars, Inc. of our reports dated February 14, 2003, except for Note 16 for
which the date is March 17, 2003, relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedule, which appear in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
March 26, 2003
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